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To Our Unitholders 
April 2015 

 21st Fiscal Period (from July 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014)  

Although the Japanese economy is on a mild recovery trend against the 

backdrop of advancement of the Abenomics and the continuation of yen 

depreciation and high stock prices backed by the Bank of Japan’s 

quantitative and qualitative monetary easing and such, according to the 

government’s announcement, the real GDP growth rate for the fiscal year 

2014 was a minus 0.5% due to the consumption tax hike, the bad weather 

in the summer, etc., and the nominal GDP growth rate is expected to be 

around 1.7%. 

In Japan’s financial environment, interest rates continue to be low, with 

a strong sense of a fund surplus against the backdrop of the Bank of 

Japan’s supply of abundant funds.  

In the J-REIT market, six new J-REITs were listed (IPOs) in 2014 which 

brought the total number of J-REITs listed on the Tokyo Stock 

Exchange’s Real Estate Investment Trust Market to 49 as of the end of 

December 2014. According to the Association for Real Estate 

Securitization, 30 existing REITs executed public offerings during the 

period from January to the end of December 2014, resulting in the amount of funds procured through 

equity finance including IPOs totaling 774.7 billion yen, thus evidencing the continuation of strong capital 

market. Driven by a continuation of the Bank of Japan’s purchases of J-REIT investment units, etc., 

market capitalization of J-REITs as of the end of December 2014 reached 10.5 trillion yen (increase of 

38.9% compared to the previous year) and TSE REIT Index also marked 1,897 (increase of 25.3% 

compared to the previous year). 

Although strong demand for real estate investment exists, the number of prime properties is 

decreasing and the official land prices of commercial sites in three major metropolitan areas turned 

upward in 2014, fueling competition for property acquisition even further. According to the Association, 

the real estate acquisition amount by J-REITs from January to the end of December 2014 was 1,576.3 

billion yen, and the investment yield continues to decline even though the pace of property acquisitions 

has slowed down compared to last year.  

In the retail environment during the period under review, although recovering from the negative impact 

of the consumption tax hike took time, recent consumption showed steady results backed by high stock 

prices, improving employment situations and rising wages. The postponement of next consumption tax 

hike can be also considered a positive factor for the time being. In addition, the number of foreign 

visitors to Japan was 13.41 million (increase of 29.4% compared to the previous year) last year, and 

spending by foreign visitors in the third quarter of 2014 also grew significantly (51% year-on-year 

increase) according to Japan national Tourism Organization. The number of foreign visitors is anticipated 

to further increase towards the 2020 Tokyo Summer Olympic Games going forward, and their presence 
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is expected to grow further in the retail business. In urban areas, intention of retailers for new shop 

openings continues to be strong and competition among shops has been intensifying more than before.  

In the external environment as described above, the Investment Corporation strove to maintain and 

enhance portfolio quality as well as earning potential and stability in an effort to build a stable and solid 

earnings structure based on the management policy.  

During the period under review, the Investment Corporation continued with partial disposition 

(equivalent of 20% of quasi co-ownership of the trust beneficiary rights) of AEON Hadano Shopping 

Center following the previous fiscal period and completed the entire disposition of the property. As a 

result, the real estate, etc. owned by the Investment Corporation marked 29 properties and acquisition 

prices totaled 265.9 billion yen as of the end of the 21st fiscal period. 

Furthermore, the Investment Corporation worked to maintain and enhance the portfolio’s 

competitiveness by conducting strategic investment in and reviewing tenant contracts, etc. of the existing 

properties such as elevator establishment work at AEON Shinagawa Seaside Shopping Center, large 

scale renewal at AEON Ibaraki Shopping Center and conclusion of agreement for extending lease 

contract, etc.  

Concerning the entire portfolio’s leasing status as of the end of the 21st fiscal period, medium- to long-

term contracts were concluded with AEON Retail Co., Ltd. and other major retailers (about 50% of the 

entire portfolio based on rent have remaining contract terms of over 10 years) and the occupancy rate 

was 100.0%.  

As a result of management as described above, business performance in the 21st fiscal period was 

operating revenue of 10,390 million yen, operating income of 5,451 million yen, ordinary income of 5,008 

million yen and net income of 5,007 million yen. 

 In the 21st fiscal period, the Investment Corporation decided to retain part of gain on sales of quasi 

co-ownership of the trust beneficiary rights of AEON Hadano Shopping Center as reserve for reduction 

by applying the “Special Provisions on Taxation in the case of advance acquisition of land and such in 

2009 and 2010” (Article 66-2 of the Act on Special Taxation Measures Law (Act No. 26, 1957, including 

amendments thereto) (the “Special Taxation Measures Law”)). 

Concerning distributions and based on the above, while planning for the maximum amount of 

distributions of earnings to be included in deductible expenses based on the application of special 

provisions for taxation (Article 67-15 of the Special Taxation Measures Law), the Investment Corporation 

decided to distribute the entire amount of unappropriated retained earnings (excluding the portion where 

distribution per unit would be less than 1 yen) after retaining and deducting 192 million yen, the amount 

within the application of the Article 66-2 of the Act on Special Taxation Measures Law, as provision of 

reserve for reduction entry. As a result, the Investment Corporation declared a distribution per unit of 

9,707 yen.  

The above internal reserve will be utilized for stabilization of future distributions, etc. 

 

 Outlook for Next Period 

Concerning the Japanese economy, economic recovery is expected with about 1.5% of real GDP and 

about 2.7% of nominal GDP forecast for fiscal 2015 according to the Japanese government. In the 
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backdrop are the continuous improvements in the employment and income environment due to the 

government’s emergency economic package, efforts among government, labor and management, etc., 

leading to a further positive growth cycle, while strong demand in the private sector is expected amid 

improving trade terms. Moreover, positive factors that can contribute to the inflow of funds from private 

investors to the stock market and J-REITs even more than before are boosting hopes for economic 

recovery. These include the activation of infrastructure investment ahead of the confirmation of Tokyo 

hosting the 2020 Summer Olympic Games, the expansion of investor groups seen in such as 

Government Pension Investment Fund (GPIF)’s inclusion of J-REITs in the investment targets, the raising 

of the investment limit for the individual savings account system of Japan (“NISA”) in the future, etc. 

On the other hand, future risks must continue to be watched including the trends of rising interest rates 

in the U.S., crude oil prices, overseas economies and the exchange market as well as the impact of labor 

shortages and rising construction costs in line with the economic recovery. 

The real estate investment market is likely to continue to intensify against the backdrop of low interest 

rates, etc.  

In the environment surrounding retail facilities, sales at retail facilities are thought to also head for 

recovery in the following fiscal period and be steady going forward due to further improvements in the 

employment environment and the wage increases centering on large companies and such backed by 

the recovery of corporate performance in general. In addition, steadily increasing foreign tourists are 

expected to boost consumption with the further increase in number. 

On the other hand, the retail environment in regional cities, which receive relatively small advantages 

from the wealth effect, wage increase or increase of foreign visitors, is severe on the whole. Such 

disparities among regions, households and generations could gradually expand and the government has 

also been implementing emergency economic measures.  
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Ⅰ. Asset Management Report 
 
1. Overview of Asset Management 

(1) Management Status and Other Highlights of Investment Corporation 
[mn yen: millions of yen; PoP: period-on-period change] 

Fiscal period 17th 18th 19th 20th 21st 
Settlement of accounts Dec. 2012 June 2013 Dec. 2013 June 2014 Dec. 2014 

Operating revenue 
mn 
yen 9,026 9,676 9,960 10,633 10,390

Of which, property leasing 
operating revenue 

mn 
yen 8,921 9,676 9,874 9,667 9,598

Operating expenses mn yen 4,307 4,621 4,841 4,884 4,938
Of which, property leasing 
operating expenses 

mn 
yen 3,816 4,110 4,291 4,315 4,381

Operating income 
mn 
yen 4,718 5,054 5,118 5,748 5,451

Ordinary income 
mn 
yen 4,274 4,551 4,665 5,308 5,008

Net income 
mn 
yen 4,273 4,550 4,664 5,307 5,007

Total assets 
mn 
yen 

243,813 267,178 264,073 264,946 263,035
[PoP: 3.5%] [PoP: 9.6%] [PoP: -1.2%] [PoP: 0.3%] [PoP:-0.7%]

Net assets 
mn 
yen 

133,603 151,234 151,349 151,991 151,934
[PoP: 18.5%] [PoP: 13.2%] [PoP: 0.1%] [PoP: 0.4%] [PoP:- 0.0%]

Unitholders’ capital 
mn 
yen 129,327 146,590 146,590 146,590 146,590

Total number of investment 
units issued and outstanding 

units 227,500 248,000 248,000 496,000 496,000

Net assets per unit yen 587,267 609,816
(Note 11) 
305,139 

306,435 306,320

Total amount of distributions 
mn 
yen 4,181 4,550 4,664 5,064 4,814

Distribution per unit yen 18,382 18,347 18,810 10,211 9,707
Of which, distribution of 
earnings per unit 

yen 18,382 18,347 18,810 10,211 9,707

Of which, distribution in 
excess of earnings per unit

yen 0 0 0 0 0

Ratio of ordinary income to 
total assets [Note 1] 

% 
1.8 1.8 1.8 2.0 1.9

[Annualized: 3.5] [Annualized: 3.6] [Annualized: 3.5] [Annualized: 4.0] [Annualized: 3.8]

ROE [Note 2] % 
3.5 3.2 3.1 3.5 3.3

[Annualized: 6.9] [Annualized: 6.4] [Annualized: 6.1] [Annualized: 7.1] [Annualized: 6.5]
Equity ratio  
at end of period [Note 3] 

% 
54.8 56.6 57.3 57.4 57.8

[PoP: 6.9] [PoP: 1.8] [PoP: 0.7]  [PoP: 0.1] [PoP: 0.4]
Number of days of 

management 
days 184 181 184 181 184

Payout ratio [Note 4] % 97.8 99.9 99.9 95.4 96.1
Number of investment 
properties at end of period 

properties 27 29 28 30 29

Total leasable floor space  
at end of period [Note 5] 

m2 (1,264,044.71) (1,338,512.07) (1,333,900.68) (1,361,073.77) (1,281,229.42)

Number of tenants  
at end of period [Note 6] 

contracts 32 (117) 37 (122) 33 (116) 35 (118) 34 (117)

Occupancy rate  
at end of period [Note 7] 

% 100.0 (100.0) 100.0 (100.0) 100.0 (100.0) 100.0 (100.0) 100.0 (100.0)

Depreciation mn yen 2,095 2,241 2,265 2,208 2,159
Capital expenditures mn yen 92 96 92 83 444
Property leasing NOI 
[Note 8] 

mn yen 7,200 7,806 7,848 7,561 7,376

FFO [Note 9] mn yen 6,368 6,791 6,930 7,516 7,167
FFO per unit [Note 10] yen 27,994 27,384 27,944 15,154 14,450
Note 1: Ratio of ordinary income to total assets = Ordinary income ÷ [(Total assets at beginning of period + Total assets at end of 

 period) ÷ 2] × 100 (rounded to the first decimal place) 
Note 2: ROE = Net income ÷ [(Net assets at beginning of period + Net assets at end of period) ÷ 2] × 100 (rounded to the first 

 decimal place) 
Note 3: Equity ratio at end of period = Net assets at end of period ÷ Total assets at end of period × 100 (rounded to the first decimal 

 place) 
Note 4: “Payout ratio” is rounded down to the first decimal place. 
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Note 5: “Total leasable floor space at end of period” is the area leasable to tenants. However, for properties for which pass-through 
 type master lease contracts are concluded, the “Total leasable floor space at end of period” arrived at by adding up these 
 properties’ area leasable to end tenants is given, shown in square brackets. 

Note 6: “Number of tenants at end of period” is the number of tenants based on lease contracts. For properties for which pass-
through type master lease contracts are concluded, the “Number of tenants at end of period” arrived at by adding up the 
 number of tenants based on lease contracts between master lessees and end tenants is additionally given, shown in square 
 brackets. 

Note 7: “Occupancy rate at end of period” is the leased floor space expressed as a percentage of leasable floor space, rounded to 
 the first decimal place. For properties for which pass-through type master lease contracts are concluded, the “Occupancy 
 rate at end of period” arrived at when leasable floor space is the area leasable to end tenants and leased floor space is the 
 area based on lease contracts with end tenants is additionally given, shown in square brackets. 

Note 8: Property leasing NOI (net operating income) = Property leasing operating revenue − Property leasing operating expenses + 
 Depreciation 

Note 9: FFO (funds from operations) = Net income + Depreciation 
Note 10: FFO per unit = FFO ÷ Total number of investment units issued and outstanding (rounded to the nearest whole number) 
Note 11: As of December 31, 2013 (December 30, 2013 in substance) as record date, each of the investment units have been 

divided on a two-for-one basis with January 1, 2014 as the effective date. Net income per unit is calculated based on the 
assumption that the investment units had been split at the beginning of the 19th fiscal period. Net income per unit calculated 
without the assumption that the investment unit had been split at the beginning of the 19th fiscal period is 610,279 yen. 

 

(2) Period’s Developments in Management of Assets 

Frontier Real Estate Investment Corporation (the “Investment Corporation”) was established pursuant to the 

Investment Trust and Investment Corporation Law (Act No. 198 of 1951, including subsequent amendments; the 

“Investment Trust Law”) by Mitsui Fudosan Frontier REIT Management Inc. (former trade name: Frontier REIT 

Management Inc.; the “Asset Management Company”) on May 12, 2004 and listed the investment securities 

issued by the Investment Corporation (the “Investment Corporation’s investment securities”) [Note 1] on the Real 

Estate Investment Trust Market of Tokyo Stock Exchange, Inc. (the “Tokyo Stock Exchange”) on August 9, 2004 

(Securities Code: 8964). 

The Investment Corporation is a “REIT specializing in retail facilities” investing primarily in real estate, etc. 

(including real estate as trust assets; the same hereinafter) used as retail facilities in Japan in an aim to secure 

stable earnings over the medium to long term. As a result of steadily building up a track record in management 

over the 10 and half years since establishment, as of the last day of the fiscal period under review (21st fiscal 

period: from July 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014), the Investment Corporation manages real estate, etc. totaling 

29 properties (total amount of acquisition value: 265,968 million yen). In addition, the total number of investment 

units issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2014 is 496,000 units, as the Investment Corporation 

implemented a two-for-one split of its investment units with January 1, 2014 as the effective date. 

 
Note 1: The investment units of the Investment Corporation are book-entry investment units (The meaning as provided in Article 

226, Paragraph 1 of the Act on Book-Entry Transfer of Company Bonds, Shares, etc. (Act No. 75 of 2001, including 
subsequent amendments; the “New Book-Entry Transfer Act”); the same hereinafter. In addition, the investment units of the 
Investment Corporation that are book-entry investment units are hereinafter referred to as the “Investment Corporation’s 
book-entry investment units.”). Concerning the Investment Corporation’s book-entry investment units, the Investment 
Corporation is unable to issue investment securities and to whom rights belong is as stated or recorded in the transfer 
account book (Article 226 and Article 227 of the New Book-Entry Transfer Act). Unless otherwise stated, reference 
hereinafter to the Investment Corporation’s investment securities shall include the Investment Corporation’s book-entry 
investment units. 

 In addition, the investment corporation bonds of the Investment Corporation are book-entry investment corporation bonds 
(The meaning as provided in Article 116 of the New Book-Entry Transfer Act; the same hereinafter. In addition, the 
investment corporation bonds of the Investment Corporation that are book-entry investment corporation bonds are 
hereinafter referred to as the “Investment Corporation’s book-entry investment corporation bonds.”). Unless otherwise 
stated, reference hereinafter to the investment corporation debentures issued by the Investment Corporation (the 
“Investment Corporation’s investment corporation debentures”) shall include the Investment Corporation’s book-entry 
investment corporation bonds. 

Note 2: Unless otherwise stated, monetary amounts are rounded down and percentage figures are rounded off to the nearest 
specified unit hereinafter in this report. 
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[① Investment Environment and Management Performance] 

Although the Japanese economy is on a mild recovery trend against the backdrop of advancement of the 

Abenomics and the continuation of yen depreciation and high stock prices backed by the Bank of Japan’s 

quantitative and qualitative monetary easing and such, according to the government’s announcement, the real 

GDP growth rate for the fiscal year 2014 was a minus of 0.5% due to the consumption tax hike, the bad weather in 

the summer, etc., and the nominal GDP growth rate is expected to be around 1.7%. 

In Japan’s financial environment, interest rates continue to be low, with a strong sense of a fund surplus against 

the backdrop of the Bank of Japan’s supply of abundant funds.  

In the J-REIT market, six new J-REITs were listed (IPOs) in 2014 which brought the total number of J-REITs 

listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange’s Real Estate Investment Trust Market to 49 as of the end of December 2014. 

According to the Association for Real Estate Securitization, 30 existing REITs executed public offerings during the 

period from January to the end of December 2014, resulting in the amount of funds procured through equity 

finance including IPOs totaling 774.7 billion yen, thus evidencing the continuation of strong capital market. Driven 

by a continuation of the Bank of Japan’s purchases of J-REIT investment units, etc., market capitalization of J-

REITs as of the end of December 2014 reached 10.5 trillion yen (increase of 38.9% compared to the previous 

year) and TSE REIT Index also marked 1,897 (increase of 25.3% compared to the previous year). 

Although strong demand for real estate investment exists, the number of prime properties is decreasing and the 

official land prices of commercial sites in three major metropolitan areas turned upward in 2014, fueling 

competition for property acquisition even further. According to the Association, the real estate acquisition amount 

by J-REITs from January to the end of December 2014 was 1,576.3 billion yen, and the investment yield continues 

to decline even though the pace of property acquisitions has slowed down compared to last year.  

In the retail environment during the period under review, although recovering from the negative impact of the 

consumption tax hike took time, recent consumption showed steady results backed by high stock prices, 

improving employment situations and rising wages. The postponement of next consumption tax hike can be also 

considered a positive factor for the time being. In addition, the number of foreign visitors to Japan was 13.41 

million (increase of 29.4% compared to the previous year) last year, and spending by foreign visitors in the third 

quarter of 2014 also grew significantly (51% year-on-year increase) according to Japan national Tourism 

Organization. The number of foreign visitors is anticipated to further increase towards the 2020 Tokyo Summer 

Olympic Games going forward, and their presence is expected to grow further in the retail business. In urban 

areas, intention of retailers for new shop openings continues to be strong and competitions among shops have 

been intensifying more than before.    

In the external environment as described above, the Investment Corporation strove to maintain and enhance 

portfolio quality as well as earning potential and stability in an effort to build a stable and solid earnings structure 

based on the management policy.  

During the period under review, the Investment Corporation continued with partial disposition (equivalent of 20% 

of quasi co-ownership of the trust beneficiary rights) of AEON Hadano Shopping Center following the previous 

fiscal period and completed the entire disposition of the property. 

As a result, the real estate, etc. owned by the Investment Corporation marked 29 properties and acquisition 
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prices totaled 265.9 billion yen as of the end of the 21st fiscal period. 

Furthermore, the Investment Corporation worked to maintain and enhance the portfolio’s competitiveness by 

conducting strategic investment in and reviewing tenant contracts, etc. of the existing properties such as elevator 

establishment work at AEON Shinagawa Seaside Shopping Center, large scale renewal at AEON Ibaraki 

Shopping Center and conclusion of agreement for extending lease contract, etc.  

Concerning the entire portfolio’s leasing status as of the end of the 20th fiscal period, medium- to long-term 

contracts were concluded with AEON Retail Co., Ltd. and other major retailers (about 50% of the entire portfolio 

based on rent have remaining contract terms of over 10 years) and the occupancy rate was 100.0%. 

 

[② Summary of Fund Procurement] 

In the 21st fiscal period, the Investment Corporation refinanced existing short-term and long-term borrowings 

and made partial repayments with cash on hand. As a result, the balance of borrowings as of the end of the 21st 

fiscal period was short-term borrowings of 2,500 million yen, long-term borrowings of 62,800 million yen and 

Investment Corporation’s investment corporation bonds of 5,000 million yen to total 70,300 million yen. The 

interest-bearing debt ratio as the end of the 21st fiscal period was 22.5%, maintaining the lowest level among all 

J-REITs. 

Furthermore, in order to keep fund procurement diversified and flexible, the Investment Corporation has 

obtained issuer ratings from Standard & Poor’s Ratings Japan K.K. (S&P) and Moody’s Japan K.K. on December 

26, 2006 and Rating and Investment Information, Inc. (R&I) on June 30, 2009. 

The following summarizes the ratings as of the end of the 21st fiscal period. 

Credit Rating Agency Subject of Rating Rating Outlook 

Standard & Poor’s Ratings Japan K.K. (S&P) 
Long-term corporate credit rating A+ Stable 

Short-term corporate credit rating A-1 Stable 

Moody’s Japan K.K. Issuer rating A2 Stable 

Rating and Investment Information, Inc. (R&I) Issuer rating AA− Stable 

 

[③ Summary of Business Performance and Distributions] 

   As a result of management as described above, business performance in the 21st fiscal period was operating 

revenue of 10,390 million yen, operating income of 5,451 million yen, ordinary income of 5,008 million yen and 

net income of 5,007 million yen.  

In the 21st fiscal period, the Investment Corporation decided to retain part of gain on sales of quasi co-

ownership of the trust beneficiary rights of AEON Hadano Shopping Center as reserve for reduction by applying 

the “Special Provisions on Taxation in the case of advance acquisition of land and such in 2009 and 2010” 

(Article 66-2 of the Act on Special Taxation Measures Law (Act No. 26, 1957, including amendments thereto) 

(the “Special Taxation Measures Law”)). 

Concerning distributions and based on the above, while planning for the maximum amount of distributions of 

earnings to be included in deductible expenses based on the application of special provisions for taxation (Article 
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67-15 of the Special Taxation Measures Law), the Investment Corporation decided to distribute the entire amount 

of unappropriated retained earnings (excluding the portion where distribution per unit would be less than 1 yen) 

after retaining and deducting 192 million yen, the amount within the application of the Article 66-2 of the Act on 

Special Taxation Measures Law, as provision of reserve for reduction entry. As a result, the Investment 

Corporation declared a distribution per unit of 9,707 yen.  

The above internally reserved amount will be utilized for stabilization of future distributions, etc. 

 

(3) Status of Capital Increase, etc. 

The following is the status of increase (decrease) in the total number of investment units issued and outstanding 

and unitholders’ capital up to the 21st fiscal period. 

Date Description 

Total number of investment 
units issued and outstanding 

[units] 

Unitholders’ capital 
[Note 1] 

[millions of yen] Remarks
Number of units 

of increase 
Balance 

Amount of 
increase 

Balance 

July 1, 2010 
Capital increase  
by public offering 

32,000 192,000 18,331 107,711 [Note 2]

July 28, 2010 
Capital increase  

by third-party allotment 
2,000 194,000 1,145 108,857 [Note 3]

July 10, 2012 
Capital increase  
by public offering 

31,000 225,000 18,942 127,800 [Note 4]

August 8, 2012 
Capital increase  

by third-party allotment 
2,500 227,500 1,527 129,327 [Note 5]

March 5, 2013 
Capital increase by 

 public offering 
19,500 247,000 16,420 145,748 [Note 6]

March 21, 2013 
Capital increase by 
third-party allotment 

1,000 248,000 842 146,590 [Note 7]

January 1, 2014 Investment unit split 248,000 496,000 - 146,590 [Note 8]

Note 1: “Unitholders’ capital” is rounded down to the nearest million yen. 
Note 2: New investment units were issued at an issue price of 592,312 yen (572,872 yen for underwriters) per unit for the purpose of 

procuring funds for new property acquisitions. 
Note 3: New investment units were issued by third-party allotment at an issue value of 572,872 yen per unit for the purpose of using the 

funds for repayment of part of borrowings for new property acquisitions. 
Note 4: New investment units were issued at an issue price of 631,800 yen (611,064 yen for underwriters) per unit for the purpose of 

using the funds for repayment of borrowings for new property acquisitions and other repayment of borrowings. 
Note 5: New investment units were issued by third-party allotment at an issue value of 611,064 yen per unit for the purpose of using the 

funds for repayment of borrowings. 
Note 6:  New investment units were issued at an issue price of 870,675 yen (842,099 yen for underwriters) per unit for the purpose of 
 using the funds for repayment of borrowings for new property acquisitions and other repayment of borrowings.  
Note 7:  New investment units were issued by third-party allotment at an issue value of 842,099 yen per unit for the purpose of using the 
 funds for repayment of borrowings.  
Note 8:  With December 31, 2013 (December 30, 2013 in substance) as record date, each of the investment units have been divided on 

a two-for-one basis with January 1, 2014 as the effective date. 
 

[Changes in Investment Securities Price on Exchange] 

The following are each fiscal period’s high and low prices (trading prices) on Tokyo Stock Exchange’s Real Estate 

Investment Trust Market on which the investment securities issued by the Investment Corporation are listed. 

Fiscal period 17th 18th 
19th 

(Before ex-rights)
19th 

(After ex-rights)
20th 21st 

Settlement of 
accounts 

Dec. 2012 June 2013 Dec. 2013 Dec. 2013 June 2014 Dec. 2014 

High 850,000 yen 1,133,000 yen 1,017,000 yen 532,000 yen 590,000 yen 587,000 yen
Low 631,000 yen 752,000 yen 815,000 yen 476,000 yen 489,000 yen 493,000 yen

Note: A two for one split of investment units has been implemented with January 1, 2014 as the effective date, and investment units have 
begun to be transacted at the price after ex-rights from December 26, 2013.  
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(4) Distributions, etc. Performance 

Concerning distributions in the 21st fiscal period, while planning for the maximum amount of distributions of 

earnings to be included in deductible expenses based on the application of special provisions for taxation (Article 

67-15 of the Special Taxation Measures Law), the Investment Corporation decided to distribute the entire amount 

of unappropriated retained earnings (excluding the portion where distribution per unit would be less than 1 yen) 

after retaining and deducting 192 million yen, the amount within the application of the Article 66-2 of the Act on 

Special Taxation Measures Law, as provision of reserve for reduction entry. As a result, the Investment 

Corporation declared a distribution per unit of 9,707 yen.  

The above internally reserved amount will be utilized for stabilization of future distributions, etc. 

 
 [Unit: thousands of yen, except per unit information is in yen] 

 

(5) Future Management Policy and Challenges to Address 

[① Investment Environment] 

Concerning the Japanese economy, economic recovery is expected with about 1.5% of real GDP and about 

2.7% of nominal GDP forecast for fiscal 2015 according to the Japanese government. In the backdrop are the 

continuous improvements in the employment and income environment due to the government’s emergency 

economic package, efforts among government, labor and management, etc., leading to a further positive growth 

cycle, while strong demand in the private sector is expected amid improving trade terms. Moreover, positive 

factors that can contribute to the inflow of funds from private investors to the stock market and J-REITs even 

more than before are boosting hopes for economic recovery. These include the activation of infrastructure 

investment ahead of the confirmation of Tokyo hosting the 2020 Summer Olympic Games, the expansion of 

investor groups seen in such as Government Pension Investment Fund (GPIF)’s inclusion of J-REITs market in 

the investment targets, the raising of the investment limit for the individual savings account system of Japan 

(“NISA”) in the future, etc. 

On the other hand, future risks must continue to be watched including the trends of rising interest rates in the 

U.S., crude oil prices, overseas economies and the exchange market as well as the impact of labor shortages 

and rising construction costs in line with the economic recovery. 

The real estate investment market is likely to continue to intensify against the backdrop of low interest rates, 

Fiscal period 
17th 

From: July 1, 2012 
To:  Dec. 31, 2012

18th 
From: Jan. 1, 2013 
To: June 30, 2013 

19th 
From: July 1, 2013 
To:  Dec. 31, 2013

20th 
From: Jan. 1, 2014 
To: June 30, 2014 

21st 
From: July 1, 2014 
To:  Dec. 31, 2014

Total amount of  
unappropriated retained earnings 

4,273,148 4,550,145 4,665,021 5,307,606 5,007,559

Amount of accumulated earnings 91,243 89 141 242,950 192,887
Total amount of cash distributions 4,181,905 4,550,056 4,664,880 5,064,656 4,814,672
[ Distribution per unit ] (18,382) (18,347) (18,810) (10,211) (9,707)
Of which, total amount of 
distributions of earnings 

4,181,905 4,550,056 4,664,880 5,064,656 4,814,672

[ Distribution of earnings per unit ] (18,382) (18,347) (18,810) (10,211) (9,707)
Of which, total amount of 
withdrawal of investments in 
capital 

－ － － － －

[ Amount of withdrawal of 
investments in capital per unit ] 

(－) (－) (－) (－) (－)
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etc.  

In the environment surrounding retail facilities, sales at retail facilities are thought to also head for recovery in 

the following fiscal period and be steady going forward due to further improvements in the employment 

environment and the wage increases centering on large companies and such backed by the recovery of 

corporate performance in general. In addition, steadily increasing foreign tourists are expected to boost 

consumption with the further increase in number. 

On the other hand, the retail environment in regional cities, which receive relatively small advantages from the 

wealth effect, wage increase or increase of foreign visitors, is severe on the whole. Such disparities among 

regions, households and generations could gradually expand and the government has also been implementing 

emergency economic measures. 

In the investment environment described above, the Investment Corporation will conduct management aimed 

at securing stable earnings over the medium to long term based on the following policy.  

 

[② Management Policy and Challenges to Address] 

A. Basic Policy for Future Management 

The Investment Corporation adopts a basic policy of securing stable earnings over the medium to long term 

and consistently paying out distributions. Based on this basic policy, while aiming to maximize unitholder value 

through responding to changes in external and internal environments in addition to expanding asset size for the 

purpose of further stabilization of the earnings structure, the Investment Corporation will engage in conservative 

and efficient financial operations. 

 

B. Future Investment Policy and Growth Strategy 

(i) External Growth Strategy for Further Stabilization of Earnings Structure 

    For stabilization of the earnings structure through external growth, the Investment Corporation utilizes 

a variety of resources for external growth to make selective investment in properties that are competitive 

over the medium to long term and develop a portfolio that is diversified and spread out, along with pursuing 

further growth and enhancement of portfolio quality. 

The Investment Corporation, the Asset Management Company and Mitsui Fudosan Co., Ltd. have 

concluded a basic contract on the sale of property (Mitsui Shopping Park LaLaport SHIN-MISATO) as of 

February 14, 2014. In accordance with the agreement, the Investment Corporation has been granted with 

preferential negotiation rights for the property acquisition as below. 

 

Property name  Location 

 
Lot area 

(m2) 
 

Floor area 
(m2) 

Scheduled 
acquisition 

date  

Acquisition 
price  

Preferential 
negotiation 

rights period 

Mitsui Shopping Park 
LaLaport SHIN-
MISATO (main 
building) 

Misato-shi, 
Saitama 

86,520.83 136,161.36
To be 

determined

To be 
determined 

 

Until March 
31, 2017 

 



 
 

11 
 

①  External Growth Through Selective Investment 

The valuation of retail facilities is affected by a wide variety of factors, ranging from geographical 

factors, such as the retail facility’s trade area population and traffic conditions, to property-specific factors, 

such as the age of the facility, status of the building and other tangible aspects and the completeness as 

a retail facility, tenant creditworthiness and other intangible aspects, as well as the competitive relations 

and superiority within the trade area, matching with the special characteristics of the trade area and 

consumer preferences and future consumption trends. The Investment Corporation conducts selective 

investment by acquiring mainly properties that are known as best-in-town facilities and exhibit noteworthy 

characteristics and properties that have the potential of becoming best-in-town facilities and exhibiting 

noteworthy characteristics in the future with medium- to long- term competitiveness based on 

appropriately assessing such various factors. 

 

②  Build Stable Earnings Structure through Expansion of Asset Size 

The Investment Corporation’s asset size has reached 265,968 million yen (based on acquisition price) 

as of the end of the 21th fiscal period, and the Investment Corporation has advanced with building of an 

earnings structure in order to keep consistently paying out distributions over the medium to long term. 

Going forward, large renewals, redevelopment, replacement of assets and other actions may become 

necessary to respond to aging of the properties and changes in the environment and keep maintaining 

and enhancing the competitiveness of the portfolio going forward. While flexibly implementing such 

actions, in order to limit the impact of such on the portfolio, the Investment Corporation will pursue further 

expansion of asset size and thereby aim for greater stabilization of the earnings structure. 

 

③ Variety of Resources for External Growth and Growth Cycle for Ongoing Stable Growth 

The Investment Corporation will continue to aim for external growth by utilizing the retail facility 

development ability of the Asset Management Company’s sponsor Mitsui Fudosan Co., Ltd. (“Mitsui 

Fudosan”). At the same time, based on Mitsui Fudosan’s and the Asset Management Company’s 

information collecting ability, the Investment Corporation will also proactively acquire properties from third 

parties other than Mitsui Fudosan. In this manner, the Investment Corporation will pursue external growth 

by utilizing a variety of resources for external growth. In addition, upon acquisition, laws and regulations 

and the Investment Corporation’s Rules Concerning Conflicts of Interest will be observed and information 

disclosure will be conducted in an appropriate and timely manner. 

 

④ Greater Diversification and Spreading Out of Portfolio 

By making diversified investments in mainly large-scale shopping centers that target a wide trade area, 

such as regional SCs and outlet malls, as well as various property types exhibiting an array of special 

trade area characteristics, such as community SCs, neighborhood SCs, supermarkets and urban retail 

facilities, the Investment Corporation has worked to build a more diversified portfolio. 

In addition, although the Investment Corporation has so far been promoting geographical 

diversification through investment in properties located in core cities throughout Japan centering on the 



 
 

12 
 

Tokyo metropolitan area, going forward we will shift its portfolio to further focus on urban areas by 

making diversified investments centering on properties located in urban areas throughout Japan in line 

with recent trend of population shift to urban areas. The Investment Corporation will acquire properties 

based on comprehensive evaluation of the positive and negative impacts on the portfolio, considering 

also the diversification of tenants and to center on tenants with high creditworthiness, ensuring there is 

no disproportionate weight on the credit risk of specific tenants. Through these efforts, the Investment 

Corporation will seek to further maintain and enhance quality as well as earning potential and stability of 

the portfolio that is diversified and spread out.  

 

(ii)  Responding to changes in external and internal environments  

The Investment Corporation aims to maximize unitholders’ value while securing stable earnings over the 

medium to long term by responding to changes in environment as well as stabilizing earnings structure 

through external growth pursued to date.  

 

① Capturing Profits Linked to Economic Growth  

 The Investment Corporation will increase the ratio of properties that have introduced sales-linked rents 

and of properties with relatively short-term leasing contracts from which an increase in earnings from 

leasing can be anticipated through tenant replacement, rent revision, etc., while maintaining a stable 

portfolio centering on the long fixed-term leasing contracts with tenants having high creditworthiness. 

Through these efforts, the Investment Corporation aims to maintain and enhance the earnings structure 

over the medium to long term through capturing profits linked to the economic growth which is expected 

going forward while raising readiness against inflationary risks.  

       

② Enhancement of Asset Value and Rebuilding of Portfolio through Strategic Renewals 

In order to respond flexibly to changes such as the aging of properties and the emergence of 

competing  facilities, the Investment Corporation will maintain and enhance the facility competitiveness 

and asset value of each property by planning and implementing strategic and effective investment 

capital expenditure and large renewals. On the other hand, for facilities which cannot expect 

improvements in the decreased cash flow resulting from repair cost due to aging, etc. or expanded 

CAPEX investment, or for facilities in which uncertainty remains due to tenant move-out risks or 

downward rent revision risks, the Investment Corporation will conduct necessary strategic property 

replacements  and thereby seek to further maintain and enhance stability by rebuilding the portfolio.  

 

(iii) Maintaining and Enhancing Asset Value by Utilizing Mitsui Fudosan Group’s Retail Facility Operation and 

Management Know-How 

The Investment Corporation’s portfolio is maintaining an occupancy rate of 100.0%, as of the end of the 

21st fiscal period and lease revenue is also stable. This is thought to be largely attributable to many of the 

properties comprising the portfolio having long-term fixed-rent lease contracts concluded and also 
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properties centering on those that are known as best-in-town facilities and exhibit noteworthy 

characteristics with high competitiveness over the medium to long term in the respective trade area. 

However, to keep maintaining the competitiveness of retail facilities over the medium to long term requires 

an appropriate response to changes in the internal and external environment based on a grasp of not only 

trade area trends and status of the building but also other multiple and various factors. Consequently, the 

operation and management of retail facilities demands extremely high expertise. 

By concluding SC management agreements with Mitsui Fudosan for all properties, excluding properties 

for which only the land interest is held, and taking other means to forge business ties, the Investment 

Corporation has formed a structure for receiving support from Mitsui Fudosan, which is a corporate group 

with one of Japan’s leading track records in the operation and management of retail facilities, and its 

consolidated subsidiaries (the “Mitsui Fudosan Group”) [Note]. “SC management” refers to comprehensive 

management business operations for retail facilities, including property management business operations, 

and provides the following high-expertise business operations. 

Note: Mitsui Fudosan re-commissions certain SC management business operations to Frontier REIT SC Management 

Co., Ltd., which is a Mitsui Fudosan Group company that specializes in the SC management business. 

 

 Grasping and analyzing trade area and competitor trends and other environments surrounding retail 

facilities, and grasping tenant trends 

 Organizing, planning and managing all aspects of operation and management 

 Tenant leasing, contract management and customer desk business operations 

 Asset custodian, management company, etc. supervision and contract management 

 

The Investment Corporation will continue to utilize the retail facility operation and management know-how 

possessed by the Mitsui Fudosan Group to which SC management is entrusted to appropriately grasp and 

respond to changes in the internal and external environment and thereby aim to further maintain and 

enhance the current portfolio quality as well as earning potential and stability. 

 

C. Financial Strategy 

The Investment Corporation adopts a basic policy of conducting conservative financial operations. The 

Investment Corporation will strive to build a more stable financial basis by effectively utilizing long-term and 

fixed-rate borrowings, etc. and tenant leasehold and security deposits deposited by tenants. 

The Investment Corporation will continue to maintain a highly stable financial basis by keeping the ratio of 

long-term liabilities, where interest-bearing liabilities are mainly borrowings, etc. and includes tenant leasehold 

and security deposits deposited by tenants, at a conservative level. Concerning borrowings and other interest-

bearing liabilities, the Investment Corporation will consider optimal fund procurement means by taking into 

account refinancing risks and interest rate fluctuation risks, taking due heed to appropriately maintaining the 

ratio of long-term liabilities, along with taking into consideration the extension of borrowing periods, fixing of 

interest rates, spreading out of maturity dates and other factors. 
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In addition, the Investment Corporation will consider also issuing new investment units and investment 

corporation bonds, while taking into consideration future capital demand, changes in investment unit price, 

debentures market environment and other factors in a comprehensive manner. 

 

 (6) Significant Subsequent Events 

【Acquisition of assets】 

Summary of asset to be newly acquired on March 2, 2015 

(i)  Asset to be newly acquired: Real estate (Trust beneficiary rights in a real estate property)*1 

(ii)  Property Name: Shinsaibashi Square 

(iii)  Planned Acquisition Price: ¥8,620 million (Land: ¥8,353 million; Building ¥267 million)*2  

(iv)  Contract Date: December 22, 2014  

(v)  Planned Acquisition Date: March 2, 2015 (Delivery and clearance date)*3 

(vi)  Seller: Mitsui Fudosan Co., Ltd.  

(vii)  Acquisition Financing: Self-financing and borrowings  

(viii) Payment Method: Single payment at the time of delivery 

  

Summary of assets to be newly acquired on April 1, 2015 

(i)  Asset to be newly acquired: Real estate (Trust beneficiary rights in a real estate property)*4 

(ii)  Property Name: Mitsui Shopping Park LaLaport SHIN-MISATO (Main building) (Co-ownership 16%) 

(iii)  Planned Acquisition Price: ¥4,740 million (Land: ¥3,280 million, Building: ¥1,460 million)*2  

(iv)  Contract Date: February 13, 2015 

(v)  Planned Acquisition Date: April 1, 2015 (Delivery and clearance date)*3 

(vi)  Seller: SHIN-MISATO Development 3 TMK   

(vii)  Acquisition Financing: Self-financing and borrowings  

(viii) Payment Method: Single payment at the time of delivery 

 

(i)  Asset to be newly acquired: Real estate (Trust beneficiary rights in a real estate property)*1 

(ii)  Property Name: Costco Wholesale Warehouse Shinmisato (Land interest) 

(iii)  Planned Acquisition Price: ¥3,810 million*5  

(iv)  Contract Date: February 13, 2015 

(v)  Planned Acquisition Date: April 1, 2015 (Delivery and clearance date)*3 

(vi)  Seller: SHIN-MISATO Development 3 TMK   

(vii)  Acquisition Financing: Self-financing and borrowings  

(viii)  Payment Method: Single payment at the time of delivery 
 

*1  While the asset to be newly acquired is an actual real estate as of the contract date, the seller has agreed to change 
the asset to trust beneficiary rights by the acquisition date at its own responsibility.  

*2 Planned Acquisition Price amount does not include acquisition cost, real property tax, city planning tax, consumption 
tax, etc. 

*3 The acquisition of the Property falls under the category of forward commitments, etc. (refers to contracts for forward 
and future transactions, for which settlement and delivery take place one or more months after their signing, or other 
contracts in a similar manner) 

*4 While the asset to be newly acquired is an actual real estate as of the contract date, the seller has agreed to change 
the 16/100 co-ownership of the asset to trust beneficiary rights by the acquisition date at its own responsibility. 

*5 Planned Acquisition Price amount does not include acquisition cost, real property tax and city planning tax. 
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2. Overview of Investment Corporation 
(1) Status of Capital 

Fiscal period 
17th 
As of  

Dec.31, 2012 

18th 
As of  

June 30, 2013

19th 
As of  

Dec.31, 2013 

20th 
As of  

June 30, 2014 

21st 
As of  

Dec.31, 2014 
Total number of investment units 
authorized [units] 

2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000

Total number of investment units 
issued and outstanding [units] 

227,500 248,000 248,000 496,000 496,000

Unitholders’ capital [millions of yen] 129,327 146,590 146,590 146,590 146,590

Number of unitholders [persons] 9,657 9,908 8,689 8,335 8,678

 
(2) Matters Concerning Investment Units 

The following are the major unitholders as of December 31, 2014. 

Name 

Number of 
investment 
units owned 

[units] 

Number of investment 
units owned as a 

percentage of total 
number of investment 

units issued and 
outstanding 

[%] 
Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account) 122,768 24.75
The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account) 44,577 8.99
Trust & Custody Services Bank, Ltd. (Securities Investment Trust Account) 31,556 6.36
Mitsui Fudosan Co., Ltd. 29,200 5.89
The Nomura Trust and Banking Co., Ltd. (Investment Trust Account) 18,520 3.73
Nomura Bank (Luxembourg) S.A. 10,292 2.08
The Chugoku Bank, Ltd. 7,562 1.52
Trust & Custody Services Bank, Ltd. (Money Trust Tax Account) 6,136 1.24
State Street Bank and Trust Company 505223 5,867 1.18
THE FUJI FIRE AND MARINE INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED 5,744 1.16

Total 282,222 56.90
Note: “Number of investment units owned as a percentage of total number of investment units issued and outstanding” is rounded to 

the second decimal place. 
  

 
(3) Matters Concerning Directors, etc. 

① The following are the executive director, supervisory directors and accounting auditor. 

Title 
Name of 

director, etc. 
Main concurrent positions, etc. held 

Total amount of compensation 
for each title during period 

[thousands of yen] 
Executive 
director 
(Note 1) 

Kazuichi Nagata – 3,000

Supervisory 
director 

Kouji Katayanagi 
Attorney 
Auditor (part-time), Kyodo Milk Industry Co., Ltd.

1,800

Supervisory 
director 

Takaaki Ochiai Certified Public Accountant, Ochiai CPA Office 1,800

Accounting 
auditor 

Ernst & Young 
ShinNihon LLC 

– 10,000

Note: The executive director and supervisory directors do not hold investment units of the Investment Corporation either under 
their own name or any other person’s name. The executive director and supervisory directors may be directors of companies 
other than those indicated above. However, each company, including the companies listed above, does not have any 
interests in the Investment Corporation. 

 
② Policy for deciding on dismissal and non-reappointment of accounting auditor 

The Investment Corporation’s board of directors will discuss the dismissal of accounting auditor in accordance 
with the Investment Trust Law and the non-reappointment of accounting auditor by comprehensively considering 
the various circumstances such as the quality of auditing and audit fees. 

 
 

(4) Asset Management Company, Asset Custodian and Administrative Agents  
The following are the asset management company, asset custodian and administrative agents as of Dec.31, 

2014. 
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Delegation Name 
Asset management company Mitsui Fudosan Frontier REIT Management Inc. 
Asset custodian Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited 
Transfer agent Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited 
Administrative agent (institution) Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited 
Administrative agent (accounting) Heiseikaikeisha Tax Corporation 
Administrative agent (investment corporation bonds) Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation 
 

 
3. Status of Assets Under Management of Investment Corporation 

(1) Composition of Assets of Investment Corporation  

Type of 
asset 

Region 

20th Fiscal Period 
[As of Jun. 30, 2014] 

21st Fiscal Period 
[As of Dec. 31, 2014] 

Total amount held 
[Note 2] 

[millions of yen] 

As a percentage of 
total amount of 

assets [Note 3] [%] 

Total amount held 
[Note 2] 

[millions of yen] 

As a percentage of 
total amount of 

assets [Note 3] [%] 

Real 
estate 

Tokyo metropolitan 
area [Note 1] 46,895 17.7 46,496 17.7

Other regional 
cities 68,994 26.0 68,286 26.0

Real 
estate 
in trust 

Tokyo metropolitan 
area [Note 1] 79,950 30.2 77,978 29.6

Other regional 
cities 50,836 19.2 50,438 19.2

Subtotal 246,676 93.1 243,200 92.5
Deposits and other assets 18,269 6.9 19,835 7.5
Total amount of assets 264,946 100.0 263,035 100.0
Note 1: “Tokyo metropolitan area” refers to Tokyo, Kanagawa Prefecture, Saitama Prefecture and Chiba Prefecture. 
Note 2: “Total amount held” is based on carrying amount (for real estate and real estate associated with trust beneficiary rights (“real 

estate in trust”), the book value less depreciation) at the end of the fiscal period, rounded down to the nearest million yen. 
Note 3: “As a percentage of total amount of assets” is rounded to the first decimal place. 
 
(2) Major Assets Held 
 

The following summarizes the major assets held by the Investment Corporation as of December 31, 2014. 

Name of  
real estate, etc. 

Book value
[Note 1] 

[millions of 
yen] 

Leasable floor 
space 

[Note 2] 
[m2] 

Leased floor 
space 

[Note 2] 
[m2] 

Occupanc
y rate 

[Note 3] 
[%] 

As a 
percentage 

of total 
property 
leasing 

operating 
revenue 
[Note 4] 

[%] 

Primary 
use 

AEON Shinagawa Seaside Shopping Center 16,515 77,547.22 77,547.22 100.0 7.7
Retail 
facility 

AEON Ibaraki Shopping Center 14,585 150,496.58 150,496.58 100.0 7.8
Retail 
facility 

Joyfultown Okayama 9,351
 (60,007.54)

[Note 5]
 (60,007.54)

[Note 5]
100.0 

(100.0) 
4.4

Retail 
facility 

AEON Hadano Shopping Center [Note 6] － － － － 0.7
Retail 
facility 

Papillon Plaza 4,608 (17,095.47) (17,095.47)
100.0 

(100.0) 
2.3

Retail 
facility 

Kamiikedai Tokyu Store 1,301 6,640.60 6,640.60 100.0 0.6
Retail 
facility 

Belltown Tambaguchi Eki-mae Store 1,937 11,176.34 11,176.34 100.0 0.9
Retail 
facility 

AEON MALL NAGOYADOME-mae 21,714 154,766.57 154,766.57 100.0 8.1
Retail 
facility 

Summit Store Takinogawa Momiji-bashi 2,922  6,455.43  6,455.43 100.0 1.0
Retail 
facility 

Sports Club Renaissance Hiroshima 1,901 4,678.10 4,678.10 100.0 0.7
Sports 
facility 

Frespo Tosu (land interest) 3,256 79,447.76 79,447.76 100.0 1.2
Land 

interest

You Me Town Hiroshima 20,940 122,169.26 122,169.26 100.0 7.8
Retail 
facility 

Queen’s Isetan Suginami-momoi 3,436 5,212.70 5,212.70 100.0 1.2
Retail 
facility 
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Mitsui Outlet Park Iruma 17,405 98,714.90 98,714.90
100.0 

7.3
Retail 
facility 

Costco Wholesale Warehouse Iruma  
(land interest) 

2,626 24,019.93 24,019.93
100.0 

0.8
Land 

interest

Desigual Harajuku  2,923 1,149.12 1,149.12 100.0 0.6
Retail 
facility 

Ito-Yokado Higashi-yamato 10,516 53,374.72 53,374.72 100.0 4.0
Retail 
facility 

AEON TOWN Tanashi-shibakubo 2,933 8,785.30 8,785.30 100.0 1.2
Retail 
facility 

TSUTAYA BOOK STORE TENJIN 3,506 4,532.38 4,532.38 100.0 1.5
Retail 
facility 

Mitsui Shopping Park LaLaport Iwata 13,118  136,136.15 136,136.15 100.0 6.3
Retail 
facility 

GINZA GLASSE 13,206    (5,174.62) (5,174.62)
100.0 
(100.0) 

4.6
Retail 
facility 

Shimura Shopping Center 4,334    17,126.40 17,126.40 100.0 1.6
Retail 
facility 

Mitsui Shopping Park LaLagarden 
KASUKABE 

9,352    63,415.76 63,415.76 100.0 3.9
Retail 
facility 

Summit Store Yokohama Okano 
 (land interest) 

5,945    14,394.09 14,394.09 100.0 1.6
Land 

interest

VIORO 9,967     (5,834.27) (5,834.27)
100.0 
(100.0) 

5.6
Retail 
facility 

QANAT Rakuhoku 8,418 48,303.21 48,303.21 100.0 3.0
Retail 
facility 

Ikebukuro Square 20,075 8,863.86 8,863.86 100.0 7.4
Retail 
facility 

Mitsui Shopping Park ALPARK  

(East Building) 
5,418 65,603.50 65,603.50 100.0 2.8

Retail 
facility 

Kohnan Kawasaki Oda Sakae Mall (land 

interest) (Note 7) 
7,069 23,393.02 23,393.02 100.0 1.7

Land 
interest

Mitsui Shopping Park LaLaport SHIN-
MISATO Annex 

3,908 6,714.62 6,714.62
100.0 

(100.0) 
1.6

Retail 
facility 

Total 243,200 (1,281,229.42) (1,281,229.42)
100.0 

(100.0) 
100.0

Note 1: “Book value” is rounded down to the nearest million yen. 
Note 2: “Leasable floor space” is the area leasable to tenants and “Leased floor space” is, in principle, the area based on lease 

contracts with tenants. However, for properties for which pass-through type master lease contracts are concluded, leasable 
floor space is the area leasable to end tenants and leased floor space is the area based on lease contracts with end tenants, 
shown in brackets, and the figure arrived at by adding up these leasable floor space and leased floor space is given in the 
total column, shown in brackets. 

Note 3: “Occupancy rate” is the leased floor space expressed as a percentage of leasable floor space, rounded to the first decimal 
place. For properties for which pass-through type master lease contracts are concluded, the figure arrived at when leasable 
floor space is the area leasable to end tenants and leased floor space is the area based on lease contracts with end tenants 
is additionally given, shown in brackets. 

Note 4: “As a percentage of total property leasing operating revenue” is rounded to the first decimal place. 
Note 5:  Although the lease contract with the end tenant for a section (3,028.76m2) of the property has been terminated as of May 10, 

2014, discussions are being held with the end tenant concerning issues such as restoration to the original conditions and the 
vacating of the property, and a pending lawsuit exists regarding the vacating of the property, etc. for the section occupied by 
the business consignee of the end tenant. Therefore, the section (3,028.76m2) of the property is excluded from the leasable 
floor space, and as well as from the leased floor space as the lease contract has been terminated.   

Note 6: The Investment Corporation sold 55% of quasi co-ownership of the trust beneficiary rights on November 29, 2013, 25% on 
June 20, 2014, and 20% on November 28, 2014.  

Note 7: The name of the property has been changed as below. The same shall apply hereinafter.  
New property name Former property name  Date of change  

Kohnan Kawasaki Oda Sakae Mall  

(land interest) 

(provision name) Kohnan Kawasaki-

minami Store (land interest) 
September 17, 2014 
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(3) Itemization of Real Estate, etc. Portfolio Assets  
The following is an itemization of the assets held by the Investment Corporation as of December 31, 2014. 

Name of  
real estate, etc. 

Location 
[Note 1] 

Ownership
Book value 

[Note 2] 
[millions of yen] 

Appraisal value 
at end of period

[Note 3] 
[millions of yen]

AEON Shinagawa 
Seaside Shopping Center 

4-12-5 Higashi Shinagawa, Shinagawa-ku, Tokyo Proprietary 16,515 19,800

AEON Ibaraki  
Shopping Center 

Retail and parking buildings:  
8-30 Matsugamoto-cho, Ibaraki City, Osaka 
Sports building:  
1-7-5 Shimohozumi, Ibaraki City, Osaka 

Proprietary 14,585 24,400

Joyfultown Okayama 

Ito-Yokado building:  
2-10-2 Shimo-Ishii, Kita-ku, Okayama City, 
Okayama 
Annex building:  
2-10-1 Shimo-Ishii, Kita-ku, Okayama City, 
Okayama 

Proprietary 9,351 7,890

Papillon Plaza 
1-2-7 Chiyo, Hakata-ku, Fukuoka City, Fukuoka, 
etc. 

Proprietary 4,608 4,990

Kamiikedai Tokyu Store 5-23-5 Kamiikedai, Ota-ku, Tokyo Proprietary 1,301 1,710

Belltown Tambaguchi Eki-
mae Store 

(site A) 60 and 61 Chudoji-Bojo-cho, Shimogyo-ku, 
Kyoto City, Kyoto 
(site B) 70 Chudoji-Kita-cho, Shimogyo-ku, Kyoto 
City, Kyoto [Note 1] 

Proprietary 1,937 2,760

AEON MALL 
NAGOYADOME-mae 

4-1-19 Yada-minami, Higashi-ku, Nagoya City, Aichi Proprietary 21,714 25,200

Summit Store Takinogawa 
Momiji-bashi 

4-1-18 Takinogawa, Kita-ku, Tokyo Proprietary 2,922 3,390

Sports Club Renaissance 
Hiroshima 

2-8-24 Minami-machi, Minami-ku, Hiroshima City, 
Hiroshima 

Proprietary 1,901 1,880

Frespo Tosu (land 
interest) 

537-1 Aza-Shimotosu, Hontosu-machi, Tosu City, 
Saga, etc. [Note 1] 

Proprietary 3,256 3,060

You Me Town Hiroshima 
2-8-17 Minami-machi, Minami-ku, Hiroshima City, 
Hiroshima 

Proprietary 20,940 22,000

Queen’s Isetan Suginami-
momoi 

3-5-1 Momoi, Suginami-ku, Tokyo Proprietary 3,436 3,820

Mitsui Outlet Park Iruma 3169-1 Miyadera, Iruma City, Saitama Proprietary 17,405 21,700
Costco Wholesale 
Warehouse Iruma  
(land interest) 

3169-2 Kaihatsu, Miyadera Aza, Iruma City, Saitama, 
etc. [Note 1] 

Proprietary 2,626 2,680

Desigual Harajuku 6-10-8 Jingumae, Shibuya-ku, Tokyo Proprietary 2,923 3,160
Ito-Yokado Higashi-
yamato 

2-142-1 Sakuragaoka, Higashi-yamato City, Tokyo Proprietary 10,516 11,000

AEON TOWN Tanashi-
shibakubo 

1-12-5 Shibakubo-cho, Nishi-tokyo City, Tokyo Proprietary 2,933 3,030

TSUTAYA BOOK STORE 
TENJIN 

1-20-17 Imaizumi, Chuo-ku, Fukuoka City, Fukuoka Proprietary 3,506 4,620

Mitsui Shopping Park 
LaLaport Iwata 

1200 Takamioka, Iwata City, Shizuoka, etc. [Note 1] Proprietary 13,118 15,500

GINZA GLASSE 3-2-15 Ginza, Chuo-ku, Tokyo Proprietary 13,206 14,500
Shimura Shopping Center 3-26-4 Shimura, Itabashi-ku, Tokyo Proprietary 4,334 5,290
Mitsui Shopping Park 
LaLagarden KASUKABE 

1-1-1 Minami, Kasukabe City, Saitama Proprietary 9,352 11,000

Summit Store Yokohama 
Okano (land interest) 

2-5-1 Okano, Nishi-ku, Yokohama City, Kanagawa, 
etc. [Note 1] 

Proprietary 5,945 5,990

VIORO 2-10-3 Tenjin, Chuo-ku, Fukuoka City, Fukuoka Proprietary 9,967 11,400

QANAT Rakuhoku 
36-1 Takano Nishibira-cho, Sakyo-ku, Kyoto City, 
Kyoto, etc. [Note 1] 

Proprietary 8,418 9,060

Ikebukuro Square 1-14-1 Higashi Ikebukuro, Toshima-ku, Tokyo Proprietary 20,075 22,500

Mitsui Shopping Park 

ALPARK (East Building) 

2-26-1 Kusatsushinmachi, Nishi-ku, Hiroshima City, 
Hiroshima 

Proprietary 5,418 5,420

Kohnan Kawasaki Oda 

Sakae Mall (land interest) 

2-1-1 Odasakae, Kawasaki-ku, Kawasaki City, 
Kanagawa [Note 1] Proprietary 7,069 7,750

Mitsui Shopping Park 
LaLaport SHIN-MISATO 
Annex 

2-1-1, LaLa City, Shin Misato, Misato City, Saitama Proprietary 3,908 4,000

Total  － 243,200 279,500
Note 1: “Location” is the residential address indication. However, for Belltown Tambaguchi Eki-mae Store, Frespo Tosu (land interest), 

Costco Wholesale Warehouse Iruma (land interest), Mitsui Shopping Park LaLaport Iwata, Summit Store Yokohama Okano 
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(land interest), QANAT Rakuhoku and Kohnan Kawasaki Oda Sakae Mall (land interest), the location stated on the registry is 
shown. 

Note 2: “Book value” is rounded down to the nearest million yen. 
Note 3: “Appraisal value at end of period” is the value found in real estate appraisal or investigation by a real estate appraiser with the 

date of settlement of accounts as the valuation date based on the asset valuation methods and standards set forth in the 
Investment Corporation’s Articles of Incorporation as well as the rules set forth by The Investment Trusts Association, Japan. 

 
The following is the status of leasing of real estate, etc. held by the Investment Corporation. 

Name of  
real estate, etc. 

20th Fiscal Period 
[From Jan. 1, 2014 to June 30, 2014] 

21st Fiscal Period 
[From July 1, 2014 to Dec. 31, 2014] 

Total 
number of 

tenants 
[Note 1] 
at end of 

period 
[contracts] 

Occupanc
y rate 

[Note 2] 
at end of 

period 
[%] 

Property 
leasing 

operating 
revenue 
[Note 3] 

during period
[millions of 

yen] 

As a 
percentage 

of total 
property 
leasing 

operating 
revenue 
[Note 4] 

[%] 

Total 
number of 

tenants 
[Note 1] at 

end of 
period 

[contracts] 

Occupancy 
rate [Note 2] 

at end of 
period [%] 

Property 
leasing 

operating 
revenue [Note 

3] during 
period 

[millions of 
yen] 

As a 
percentage of 
total property 

leasing 
operating 

revenue [Note 
4] [%] 

AEON Shinagawa Seaside 
Shopping Center 

1 100.0 742 7.7 1 100.0 742 7.7

AEON Ibaraki  
Shopping Center 

1 100.0 748 7.7 1 100.0 748 7.8

Joyfultown Okayama 
2 

(9) 
100.0
(100.0)

443 4.6
2 

(9) 
100.0 
(100.0) 

425 4.4

AEON Hadano  
Shopping Center 

1 100.0
188

[Note 5]
2.0 - - 70 [Note 5] 0.7

Papillon Plaza 
2 

(16) 
100.0
(100.0)

223 2.3
2 

(16) 
100.0 
(100.0) 

223 2.3

Kamiikedai Tokyu Store 1 100.0 53 0.5 1 100.0 53 0.6
Belltown Tambaguchi Eki-
mae Store 

1 100.0 84 0.9 1 100.0 84 0.9

AEON MALL 
NAGOYADOME-mae 

1 100.0 773 8.0 1 100.0 773 8.1

Summit Store  
Takinogawa Momiji-bashi 

1 100.0 99 1.0 1 100.0 99 1.0

Sports Club Renaissance 
Hiroshima 

1 100.0 71 0.7 1 100.0 71 0.7

Frespo Tosu  
(land interest) 

1 100.0 118 1.2 1 100.0 118 1.2

You Me Town Hiroshima 1 100.0 745 7.7 1 100.0 745 7.8
Queen’s Isetan Suginami-
momoi 

1 100.0 112 1.2 1 100.0 113 1.2

Mitsui Outlet Park Iruma 1 100.0 713 7.4 1 100.0 698 7.3
Costco Wholesale 
Warehouse Iruma  
(land interest) 

1 100.0 78 0.8 1 100.0 78 0.8

Desigual Harajuku 1 100.0 57 0.6 1 100.0 57 0.6
Ito-Yokado Higashi-yamato 1 100.0 380 3.9 1 100.0 380 4.0
AEON TOWN Tanashi-
shibakubo 

1 100.0 114 1.2 1 100.0 114 1.2

TSUTAYA BOOK STORE 
TENJIN 

1 100.0 147 1.5 1 100.0 147 1.5

Mitsui Shopping Park 
LaLaport Iwata 

1 100.0 601 6.2 1 100.0 600 6.3

GINZA GLASSE 
1 

(14) 
100.0
(100.0)

500 5.2
1 

(14) 
100.0 
(100.0) 

446 4.6

Shimura Shopping Center 1 100.0 158 1.6 1 100.0 158 1.6
Mitsui Shopping Park 
LaLagarden KASUKABE 

1 100.0 370 3.8 1 100.0 370 3.9

Summit Store  
Yokohama Okano  
(land interest) 

1 100.0 153 1.6 1 100.0 153 1.6

VIORO 
1 

(49) 
100.0
(100.0)

583 6.0
1 

(49) 
100.0 
(100.0) 

536 5.6

QANAT Rakuhoku 1 100.0 289 3.0 1 100.0 289 3.0
Ikebukuro Square 4 100.0 705 7.3 4 100.0 712 7.4

Mitsui Shopping Park 

ALPARK (East Building) 
1 100.0 264 2.7 1 100.0 264 2.8

Kohnan Kawasaki Oda 

Sakae Mall (land interest) 
1 100.0 87 [Note 6] 0.9 1 100.0 163 1.7
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Mitsui Shopping Park 
LaLaport SHIN-MISATO 
Annex 

1 
(2) 

100.0
(100.0)

54 [Note 7] 0.6
1 

(2) 
100.0 

(100.0) 
155 1.6

Total 
35 

(118) 
100.0
(100.0)

9,667 100.0
34 

(117) 
100.0 
(100.0) 

9,598 100.0

Note 1: “Total number of tenants” is the number of tenants based on lease contracts. For properties for which pass-through type master 
lease contracts are concluded, the number of tenants arrived at by adding up the number of tenants based on lease contracts 
between master lessees and end tenants is additionally given, shown in brackets. 

Note 2: “Occupancy rate” is the leased floor space expressed as a percentage of leasable floor space, rounded to the first decimal place. 
For properties for which pass-through type master lease contracts are concluded, the figure arrived at when leasable floor space 
is the area leasable to end tenants and leased floor space is the area based on lease contracts with end tenants is additionally 
given, shown in brackets. 

Note 3: “Property leasing operating revenue” is rounded down to the nearest million yen. 
Note 4: “As a percentage of total property leasing operating revenue” is rounded to the first decimal place. 
Note 5: The Investment Corporation sold 55% of quasi co-ownership of the trust beneficiary rights on November 29, 2013, 25% on June 

20, 2014, and 20% on November 28, 2014.  
Note 6: The actual figure for the period from January 31, 2014 to June 30, 2014 is shown. 
Note 7: The actual figure for the period from March 25, 2014 to June 30, 2014 is shown.  
 

 
(4) Status of contract amount, etc. and fair value of specific transactions 

 
Status of contract amount, etc. and fair value of specific transactions conducted by the Investment Corporation as 

of December 31, 2014 is as follows. 
 

Category  
 

Type  
 

Contract amount, etc. (thousand yen)  
(Note 1)  

 

Fair 
value 

(Note 2) 
  Over 1 year  

 

Transactions other than 
market transactions  

 

Interest rate swap 
transaction 
Variable receipt/fixed 
payment  
 

3,300,000 3,300,000 － 

Total  3,300,000 3,300,000  
Note 1: Contract amount, etc. of interest rate swap transaction is indicated based on the notional amount.  
Note 2: Fair value is omitted as it satisfies requirements for special treatment in accounting standards for financial instruments. 

 
 

(5) Status of Other Assets 

There are no other major specified assets which the Investment Corporation includes in its main investment target 

as of December 31, 2014.  
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4. Capital Expenditures for Real Estate Held 
(1) Schedule of Capital Expenditures 

 The following is the schedule of capital expenditures planned as of the end of the fiscal period under review for 
real estate, etc. held by the Investment Corporation. The following scheduled construction amount includes the 
portion charged to expenses in accounting. 

Name of  
real estate, etc. 

Location Purpose Scheduled period

Scheduled construction amount 
[millions of yen] 

Total 
amount 

Amount paid 
during period

Total amount 
already paid

AEON Ibaraki 

Shopping Center 
Osaka City, Osaka Renewal construction 

From: Oct. 2014 
To: Apr. 2015 

804 53 53 

Shimura Shopping 

Center 
Itabashi-ku, Tokyo 

1st phase of renewal construction 
of packaged air conditioner (gas 
heat pump) 

From: May 2015 
To: Jun. 2015 

62 － － 

Papillon Plaza 
Fukuoka City, 

Fukuoka 
Renewal construction of power 
substation 

From: Feb. 2015 
To: Mar. 2015 

13 － － 

Other capital expenditures 44 0 0 

Total 923 54 54 

 

 (2) Capital Expenditures During Period 
The following summarizes construction that falls under the category of capital expenditures conducted for real 
estate, etc. during the fiscal period under review by the Investment Corporation. Capital expenditures during the 
fiscal period under review were 444 million yen and, when combined with the 363 million yen repair cost charged 
to expenses in the fiscal period under review, a total of 808 million yen in construction was conducted. 

Name of  
real estate, etc. 

Location Purpose Period 
Construction amount 

[millions of yen] 

AEON Shinagawa 
Seaside Shopping 

Center 
Shinagawa-ku, 

Tokyo 
Additional installment of two elevators, etc. 

From: Nov. 2013 
To: Aug. 2014 

379 

AEON Shinagawa 
Seaside Shopping 

Center 
Shinagawa-ku, 

Tokyo 
Installment of motorcycle parking 

From: Apr. 2014 
To: Aug. 2014 

20 

Mitsui Outlet Park 
Iruma 

Iruma City, 
Saitama 

Replacement of steel frame brace  
From: Oct. 2014 
To: Oct. 2014 

6 

Other capital expenditures 38 

Total 444 

 

(3) Cash Reserves for Long-Term Repair Plans (Reserve for Repairs) 
Based on long-term repair plans compiled for each property, the Investment Corporation sets aside the following 

cash reserves from cash flows during the fiscal period in order to provide for capital expenditures and repairs over 
the medium to long term. 

Fiscal period 
17th 

From: July 1, 2012 
To:  Dec. 31, 2012 

18th 
From Jan. 1, 2013 
To: June 30, 2013 

19th 
From: July 1, 2013 
To:  Dec. 31, 2013 

20th 
From Jan. 1, 2014 
To: June 30, 2014 

21st 
From: July 1, 2014 
To:  Dec. 31, 2014 

Balance of reserves at 
beginning of period 300 million yen 300 million yen 300 million yen 400 million yen 400 million yen

Amount of reserves 
during period － － 100 million yen － － 

Amount of reversal of 
reserves during period － － － － － 

Amount carried 
forward to next period 300 million yen 300 million yen 400 million yen 400 million yen 400 million yen

 
 
 
5. Status of Expenses and Liabilities 

(1) Itemization of Expenses for Management, etc.  
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Item 
20th Fiscal Period  
From: Jan. 1, 2014 
To: June 30, 2014 

21st Fiscal Period 
From: July 1, 2014 
To:  Dec. 31, 2014 

(a) Asset management fee 429,644 thousand yen 427,900 thousand yen 
   [Breakdown] Management fee 1 261,903 thousand yen 267,123 thousand yen 
 Management fee 2 167,741 thousand yen 160,776 thousand yen 
(b) Asset custody fee 13,203 thousand yen 13,247 thousand yen 
(c) Administrative service fees  26,190 thousand yen 20,487 thousand yen 
(d) Directors’ compensations 6,600 thousand yen 6,600 thousand yen 
(e) Other expenses 93,285 thousand yen 89,042 thousand yen 

Total 568,923 thousand yen 557,277 thousand yen 
Note:  In addition to the amount shown above for “Asset management fee,” there were management fees for property disposition 

included in the cost of disposition of real estate, etc. in the 20th fiscal period in the amount of 14,750 thousand yen and in the 
21st fiscal period in the amount of 11,800 thousand yen. 

 

(2) Status of Borrowings 

The following is the status of borrowings from each financial institution as of December 31, 2014. 

 [Unit: thousands of yen] 

Account 

Drawdown date 

Balance at 

beginning of 

period 

Balance at 

end of period 

Average 

interest rate 

[Note 1] 

Maturity date 
Repayment 

method 
Use Remarks Lender 

S
h

o
rt

-t
e

rm
 b

o
rr

o
w

in
g

s 
 Sumitomo Mitsui Banking 

Corporation 

Jun. 19, 2014 1,500,000 － 0.26636% Jul. 22, 2014 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Apr. 21. 2014 500,000 － 0.28136% Jul. 22, 2014 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Mizuho Bank, Ltd. [Note 9] 
Dec. 19, 2014 － 500,000 0.19273% Feb. 19, 2015 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Nov. 19, 2014 － 2,000,000 0.20336% Feb. 19, 2015 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Subtotal － 2,000,000 2,500,000 － － － － － 

L
o

ng
-t

e
rm

 b
o

rr
o

w
in

g
s 

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking 

Corporation 

Jul. 2, 2010 2,000,000 2,000,000 1.34375% Jul. 2, 2015 [Note 2] [Note 4] [Note 7] 

Dec. 20, 2010 2,000,000 2,000,000 1.73543% Jun. 20, 2017 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Jun. 20, 2011 2,000,000 2,000,000 1.27750% Jun. 20, 2018 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Feb. 20, 2012 3,000,000 3,000,000 1.16875% Feb. 20, 2020 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Aug. 20, 2012 1,000,000 1,000,000 1.01125% Aug. 20, 2020 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Feb. 1, 2013 3,000,000 3,000,000 1.15625% Feb. 1, 2023 [Note 2] [Note 4] [Note 7] 

May 19, 2014 1,500,000 1,500,000 0.60848% Nov. 19, 2020 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Aug. 29, 2014 － 1,000,000 0.28125% Aug. 29, 2017 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, 

Limited 

Jul. 2, 2010 1,500,000 1,500,000 1.34375% Jul. 2, 2015 [Note 2] [Note 4] [Note 7] 

Dec. 16, 2011 2,200,000 2,200,000 1.04125% Dec. 14, 2018 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi 

UFJ, Ltd.  

Aug. 19, 2011 1,000,000 1,000,000 1.28625% Aug. 19, 2019 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Feb. 24, 2012 1,500,000 1,500,000 0.99000% Feb. 22, 2019 [Note 2] [Note 4] [Note 7] 

Feb. 1, 2013 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.47125% Feb. 1, 2018 [Note 2] [Note 4] [Note 7] 

Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and 

Banking Corporation 

Jul. 2, 2010 1,000,000 1,000,000 1.34375% Jul. 2, 2015 [Note 2] [Note 4] [Note 7] 

Feb. 21, 2011 1,500,000 1,500,000 1.74007% Aug. 21, 2017 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Jun. 20, 2011 2,000,000 2,000,000 1.27750% Jun. 20, 2018 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Jan. 16, 2012 2,000,000 － 0.37039% Nov. 19, 2014 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Feb. 1, 2013 2,500,000 2,500,000 0.82000% Feb. 1, 2021 [Note 2] [Note 4] [Note 7] 

Mizuho Bank, Ltd. [Note 8] 

Jan. 19, 2011 1,500,000 1,500,000 1.61580% Jul. 19, 2017 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

May 19, 2011 1,500,000 1,500,000 1.30750% May 21, 2018 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Jul. 19, 2012 1,300,000 － 0.31136% Jul. 22, 2014 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Jul. 23, 2012 1,500,000 1,500,000 0.31758% Aug. 19, 2015 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Mar. 15, 2013 1,500,000 1,500,000 0.90500% Mar. 15, 2022 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Jul. 22, 2014 － 1,300,000
0.59750%

[Note 9] 
Jul. 19, 2022 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

The Gunma Bank, Ltd. 

Dec. 16, 2009 1,000,000 － 1.63125% Dec. 16, 2014 [Note 2] [Note 4] [Note 7] 

Dec. 16, 2014 － 1,000,000
0.27100%

[Note 9] 
Dec. 16, 2020 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 
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Note 1:  “Average interest rate” is the borrowing interest rate for each lending financial institution, rounded to the fifth decimal place. 
Note 2:  Lump-sum repayment at maturity. 
Note 3: Use of funds is refinancing of existing borrowings. 
Note 4: Use of funds is acquisition of real estate, etc. 
Note 5:  Repayment is in semi-annual installments of 90,000 thousand yen each on the last day of every six-month period, with March 

31, 2010 as the first installment, and a final installment of 3,330,000 thousand yen on July 12, 2016. 
Note 6:  Repayment is in semi-annual installments of 30,000 thousand yen each on the last day of every six-month period, with March 

31, 2010 as the first installment, and a final installment of 1,110,000 thousand yen on July 12, 2016. 
Note 7:  Unsecured / Unguaranteed. 
Note 8:  As of July 1, 2013, Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd. merged with Mizuho Bank, Ltd. to become Mizuho Bank, Ltd. 
Note 9: Interest rate swap transactions, which practically fixate interest rates, are conducted for the purpose of avoiding interest rate 

fluctuation risks and figures are weighted average rates during the fiscal period taking into account the effect of such interest 
rate swaps.  

 
 

(3) Status of Investment Corporation Bonds 

The following is the status of investment corporation bonds issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2014. 

Issue 
Issue  
date 

Balance at beginning  
of period 

[thousands of yen] 

Balance at end of 
period 

[thousands of yen]

Interest 
rate 
[%] 

Maturity 
date 

Redemption  
method 

Use Remarks 

1st Unsecured 
Investment 
Corporation 

Bonds 

Mar. 11, 
2011 

5,000,000 5,000,000 1.07
Mar. 11, 

2016 

Lump-sum 
redemption  
at maturity  

Repayment of 
short-term 
borrowings 

With special pari 
passu conditions 
among specified 

investment 
corporation bonds

 

(4) Status of new investment unit acquisition rights    

Not applicable.  

 

  

Development Bank of Japan Inc. 

Jul. 15, 2009 3,690,000 3,600,000 1.98000% Jul. 12, 2016 [Note 5] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Jul. 13, 2009 1,230,000 1,200,000 1.98000% Jul. 12, 2016 [Note 6] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Jul. 2, 2010 1,000,000 1,000,000 1.58375% Jul. 3, 2017 [Note 2] [Note 4] [Note 7] 

Aug. 19, 2013 2,000,000 2,000,000 1.20875% Aug. 21, 2023 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Mar. 17, 2014 1,500,000 1,500,000 1.17000% May 19, 2025 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

The Norinchukin Bank 

Jul. 2, 2010 1,000,000 1,000,000 1.19120% Jan. 7, 2015 [Note 2] [Note 4] [Note 7] 

Jan. 18, 2011 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.92375% Jan. 7, 2015 [Note 2] [Note 4] [Note 7] 

Jul. 18, 2013 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.77250% Jul. 18, 2019 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

The Hachijuni Bank, Ltd. 
Nov. 19, 2010 500,000 500,000 1.10625% Nov. 19, 2015 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Feb. 24, 2012 500,000 500,000 0.66161% Nov. 19, 2015 [Note 2] [Note 4] [Note 7] 

The Yamaguchi Bank, Ltd. 
Feb. 16, 2011 1,000,000 － 0.96250% Aug. 18, 2014 [Note 2] [Note 4] [Note 7] 

Aug. 18, 2014 － 1,000,000 0.81125% Aug. 19, 2024 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Resona Bank, Limited Jun. 3, 2011 1,000,000 1,000,000 1.20673% Feb. 5, 2018 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

The Bank of Yokohama, Ltd. Feb. 24, 2012 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.62710% Apr. 24, 2015 [Note 2] [Note 4] [Note 7] 

The Bank of Fukuoka, Ltd. 
Feb. 24, 2012 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.75375% Feb. 24, 2017 [Note 2] [Note 4] [Note 7] 

Feb. 1, 2013 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.47125% Feb. 1, 2018 [Note 2] [Note 4] [Note 7] 

The Hiroshima Bank, Ltd.  

Feb. 24, 2012 1,000,000 － 0.60532% Nov. 25, 2014 [Note 2] [Note 4] [Note 7] 

Nov. 25, 2014 － 1,000,000
0.40250%

[Note 9] 
Nov. 25, 2021 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

Mizuho Trust & Banking Co., Ltd. Feb. 1, 2013 2,500,000 2,500,000 0.69000% Feb. 3, 2020 [Note 2] [Note 4] [Note 7] 

The Daishi Bank, Ltd. Aug. 1, 2013 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.49875% Aug. 1, 2017 [Note 2] [Note 3] [Note 7] 

The Musashino Bank, Ltd. Mar. 25, 2014 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.45333% May 27, 2019 [Note 2] [Note 4] [Note 7] 

Subtotal － 63,920,000 62,800,000 － － － － － 

Total － 65,920,000 65,300,000 － － － － － 
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6. Status of Purchases and Sales During Period 

(1) Status, etc. of Purchases and Sales of Real Estate, etc. and Asset-Backed Securities, etc. 
 

Type of  
asset 

Name of  
real estate, etc. 

Acquisition Disposition 

Acquisition 
date 

Acquisition 
value 

 [millions of 
yen]  

Disposition 
date 

Disposition 
value [Note 2] 

[millions of 
yen] 

Book value 
[Note 3] 

[millions of 
yen] 

Gain 
(Loss) on 

sales 
[millions of 

yen] 
Real estate 

trust 
beneficiary 

rights 

AEON Hadano 
Shopping Center 
[Note 1] 

－ －
November 

28, 2014
2,360 1,568 791

Total  －  2,360 1,568 791

Note 1: 20% of quasi co-ownership of the trust beneficiary rights was transferred on November 28, 2014. 
Note 2: “Disposition value” is the purchase and sale value stated on the real estate purchase and sale agreement, etc.  
Note 3: “Book value” is the amount of the book value of the real estate, etc. that includes the various expenses required in the 

disposition. 
 

(2) Status, etc. of Purchases and Sales of Other Assets 

Main other assets besides the real estate, etc. and asset-backed securities, etc. above are basically monetary 

claims, such as bank deposits, or bank deposits within trust assets. 

 

(3) Investigation of Value, etc. of Specified Assets 

① Real Estate (Appraisal Value) 
 

Type of asset 
Name of  

real estate, etc. 
Disposition  

date 

Disposition value 
[Note 1] 

[millions of yen]

Real estate 
appraisal value 
[millions of yen] 

Real estate  
appraiser 

Valuation 
date 

Real estate trust 
beneficiary rights 

AEON Hadano Shopping 
Center [Note 2] 

November 28, 
2014 

2,360 2,360 
Japan Real 

Estate Institute 
November 
11, 2013 

Total  2,360 2,360  
Note 1: “Disposition value” is the amount that does not include the various expenses required in the disposition of the concerned real 

estate, etc. (brokerage fee, taxes on properties, etc.) (the purchase and sale value stated on the real estate purchase and 
sale agreement, etc.) 

Note 2: 20% of quasi co-ownership of the trust beneficiary rights was transferred on November 28, 2014. 
 

② Other 
For transactions which, among those conducted by the Investment Corporation, require investigation of value, 

etc. based on the Article 201-2 of the Investment Trust Law, the investigation has been entrusted to Ernst & 
Young ShinNihon LLC.  

There were two transactions which became subject of investigation during the subject period from July 1, 2014 
to December 31, 2014. Their investigation reports have been provided by Ernst & Young ShinNihon LLC.  

The investigation we entrusted include the other party’s name, description, contract value, type (whether 
financial instrument or financial index), transaction period and other details of the interest swap transaction.  

 

(4) Status of Transactions with Interested Parties, etc.  

① Status of Transactions 

         There are no purchase and sale transactions, etc. with interest parties.    
 
② Amount of Commission Fee, etc. 

The following are the commission fee, etc. to interested parties, etc. for the 21st fiscal period. 

Account 
Total amount of  
commission fee 

[A] 

Breakdown of transactions with  
interested parties, etc.  

As a percentage of 
total amount 

[Note 3] 
[B] ÷ [A] Payee 

Amount paid 
[B] 

CM and PM fee, etc. 
[Note 2] 

510,172 thousand yen Mitsui Fudosan Co., Ltd. 235,612 thousand yen 46.2%

Note 1: “Interested parties, etc.” are interested parties, etc. of the Asset Management Company, with which the Investment 
 Corporation has concluded an asset management agreement, as provided in Article 201, Paragraph 1 of the Investment Trust 
 Law, Article 123 of the Enforcement Order for the Investment Trust and Investment Corporation Law (Cabinet Order No. 480 
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 of 2000, including subsequent amendments) and Article 26, Item 27 of The Investment Trusts Association, Japan’s Rules on 
 Management Reports, etc. of Investment Trusts and Investment Corporations. Shown are the details for Mitsui Fudosan Co., 
Ltd, with which transactions were made or payments of commission fee, etc. were made in the 21st fiscal period. 

Note 2:  Of the total amount of commission fee and the amount paid of CM and PM fee, etc., includes the construction management 
fee for asset construction in the amount of 2,626 thousand yen to Mitsui Fudosan Co., Ltd. 

Note 3: Rounded to the first decimal place. 
 

(5) Status, etc. of Transactions with the Asset Management Company Pertaining to Business Operated by 

the Asset Management Company as Subsidiary Business 

Not applicable because the Asset Management Company does not engage in any business as a subsidiary 

business that is a type I financial instruments business or type II financial instruments business, building lots and 

buildings transaction business or real estate specified joint enterprise as provided in the Financial Instruments and 

Exchange Law (Act No. 25 of 1948, including subsequent amendments). 
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7. Accounting 

(1) Status of Assets, Liabilities, Principal, and Income and Loss 

Please refer to the “Balance Sheets,” “Statements of Income,” “Statements of Unitholders’ Equity,” “Notes to 

Financial Statements” and “Statements of Cash Distributions” presented later in this report. 

 

(2) Change in Method of Calculation of Depreciation 

Not applicable. 

 

(3) Change in Method of Valuation of Real Estate, etc. 

Not applicable. 

 

(4) Status, etc. of Beneficiary Certificates, etc. of Investment Trust Established by Self 

The following is the status of the Investment Trust’s investment units held by the Asset Management Company. 

① Status of Acquisitions, etc. 

Date Number of units acquired [units] Number of units sold [units] Number of units held [units] 

May 12, 2004 200 － 200

Cumulative total 200 － 200

 
② Status of Holdings, etc. 

 
Number of units held 

at end of period 
[units] 

Total amount held  
at end of period 

[Note 1] [millions of yen]

As a percentage of  
total number of units  

issued and outstanding 
[Note 2] [%] 

12th Fiscal Period 
From: Jan. 1, 2010  To: June 30, 2010 

200 100 0.1

13th Fiscal Period 
From: July 1, 2010  To: Dec. 31, 2010 

200 100 0.1

14th Fiscal Period 
From: Jan. 1, 2011  To: June 30, 2011 

200 100 0.1

15th Fiscal Period 
From: July 1, 2011  To: Dec. 31, 2011 

200 100 0.1

16th Fiscal Period 
From: Jan. 1, 2012  To: June 30, 2012 

200 100 0.1

17th Fiscal Period 
From: July 1, 2012  To: Dec. 31, 2012 

200 100 0.1

18th Fiscal Period 
From: Jan. 1, 2013  To: June 30, 2013 

200 100 0.1

19th Fiscal Period 
From: July 1, 2013  To: Dec. 31, 2013 200 100 0.1

20th Fiscal Period 
From: Jan. 1, 2014  To: June 30, 2014 400 100 0.1

21st Fiscal Period 
From: July 1, 2014  To: Dec. 31, 2014 400 100 0.1

Note 1: The total amount held at the end of the fiscal period is based on acquisition price. 
Note 2: Rounded to the first decimal place. 
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8. Other 

There were no matters pertaining to major agreement conclusions/changes approved at meetings of the board of 

directors of the Investment Corporation in the fiscal period. 
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Ⅱ. Balance Sheets 

 

[Unit: thousands of yen]

20th Fiscal Period [Reference] 21st Fiscal Period

[As of June 30, 2014] [As of December 31, 2014]

Assets

Current assets

Cash and deposits 12,896,501 16,432,256

Cash and deposits in trust 〔Note 2 *1〕 5,008,171 3,091,718

Operating accounts receivable 157,744 161,392

Prepaid expenses 45,359 40,601

13 21

Other 59,140 23,485

Total current assets 18,166,932 19,749,476

Noncurrent assets

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings 55,330,449 55,338,601

Accumulated depreciation (11,522,279) (12,597,927)

Buildings, net 〔Note 2 *1〕 43,808,170 42,740,673

Structures 1,146,921 1,146,921

Accumulated depreciation (520,622) (561,946)

Structures, net 〔Note 2 *1〕 626,298 584,975

Tools, furniture and fixtures 27,132 29,972

Accumulated depreciation (16,740) (18,070)

Tools, furniture and fixtures, net 〔Note 2 *1〕 10,392 11,902

Land 〔Note 2 *1〕 71,445,467 71,445,467

Buildings in trust 48,150,677 47,362,923

Accumulated depreciation (13,184,068) (13,670,563)

Buildings in trust, net 〔Note 2 *1〕 34,966,608 33,692,360

Structures in trust 932,805 906,940

Accumulated depreciation (422,845) (428,770)

Structures in trust, net 〔Note 2 *1〕 509,959 478,170

Machinery and equipment in trust 669,558 669,558

Accumulated depreciation (243,159) (277,150)

Machinery and equipment in trust, net 〔Note 2 *1〕 426,398 392,407

Tools, furniture and fixtures in trust 57,992 67,007

Accumulated depreciation (19,956) (23,066)

Tools, furniture and fixtures in trust, net 〔Note 2 *1〕 38,035 43,941

Land in trust 〔Note 2 *1〕 94,586,163 93,756,336

Constructions in progress in trust 259,035 54,177

Total property, plant and equipment 246,676,528 243,200,411

Intangible assets

Other 1,032 841

Total intangible assets 1,032 841

Investments and other assets

Long-term prepaid expenses 60,963 47,431

Lease and guarantee deposits 10,000 10,000

Tenant leasehold and security deposits in trust 20,400 20,400

Total investments and other assets 91,363 77,831

Total noncurrent assets 246,768,924 243,279,085

Deferred assets

Investment corporation bond issuance costs 10,248 7,174

Total deferred assets 10,248 7,174

Total assets 264,946,105 263,035,736

Deferred tax assets



 
 

29 
 

 

[Unit: thousands of yen]

20th Fiscal Period [Reference] 21st Fiscal Period

[As of June 30, 2014] [As of December 31, 2014]

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Operating accounts payable 864,175 648,514

Short-term loans payable 2,000,000 2,500,000

9,540,000 10,240,000

Accounts payable – other 39,695 37,081

Accrued expenses 308,587 277,058

Income taxes payable 651 669

Accrued consumption taxes 105,945 269,338

Advances received 1,075,772 1,046,299

Deposits received 2,763 2,785

Other 1,430 1,430

Total current liabilities 13,939,020 15,023,176

Noncurrent liabilities

Investment corporation bond 5,000,000 5,000,000

Long-term loans payable 54,380,000 52,560,000
〔Note 2 *1〕 19,106,647 18,843,570
〔Note 2 *1〕 20,494,549 19,643,454

Other 33,980 30,793

Total noncurrent liabilities 99,015,177 96,077,818

Total liabilities 112,954,198 111,100,995

Net assets

Unitholders' equity

Unitholders' capital 146,590,931 146,590,931

Surplus

Voluntary retained earnings

Reserve for reduction entry 93,369 336,249

Total voluntary retained earnings 93,369 336,249

5,307,606 5,007,559

Total surplus 5,400,976 5,343,809

Total unitholders' equity 151,991,907 151,934,740

Total net assets 〔Note 2 *2〕 151,991,907 151,934,740

Total liabilities and net assets 264,946,105 263,035,736

Unappropriated retained earnings (undisposed loss)

Tenant leasehold and security deposits in trust

Tenant leasehold and security deposits

Current portion of long-term loans payable
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Ⅲ. Statements of Income 

[Unit: thousands of yen]

20th Fiscal Period [Reference] 21st Fiscal Period

From: Jan. 1, 2014 From: July 1, 2014

To:  June. 30, 2014 To:  Dec. 31, 2014

Operating revenue

Rent revenue – real estate 〔Note 3 *1〕 9,500,121 9,549,441

Other lease business revenue 〔Note 3 *1〕 167,717 48,774

Gain on sales of real estate properties 〔Note 3 *2〕 965,265 791,801

Total operating revenue 10,633,104 10,390,017

Operating expenses

Expenses related to rent business 〔Note 3 *1〕 4,315,615 4,381,655

Asset management fee 429,644 427,900

Asset custody fee 13,203 13,247

Administrative service fees 26,190 20,487

Directors' compensations 6,600 6,600

Other operating expenses 93,285 89,042

Total operating expenses 4,884,539 4,938,932

Operating income 5,748,565 5,451,084

Non-operating income

Interest income 1,771 1,713

Interest on securities 2,117 2,013

Insurance income 2,948 1,357

Reversal of distribution payable 2,145 1,729

Other - 53

Total non-operating income 8,982 6,868

Non-operating expenses

Interest expenses 395,434 396,782
Interest expenses on investment corporation bonds 26,530 26,969
Amortization of  inv estment corporation bond issuance costs 3,074 3,074

Other 24,130 22,591

Total non-operating expenses 449,170 449,418

Ordinary income 5,308,377 5,008,534

Income before income taxes 5,308,377 5,008,534

Income taxes – current 908 1,053

Income taxes – deferred 4 (8)

Total income taxes 913 1,045

Net income 5,307,464 5,007,489

Retained earnings brought forward 141 70

5,307,606 5,007,559Unappropriated retained earnings (undisposed loss)
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Ⅳ. Statements of Unitholders’ Equity 
20th Fiscal Period (From: Jan. 1, 2014 To: June 30, 2014) [Reference] 

(unit: thousands of yen) 

 

 

21st Fiscal Period (From: July. 1, 2014 To: Dec. 31, 2014) 
(unit: thousands of yen) 

 

Reserve for
reduction

entry

Total
voluntary
retained
earnings

Balance at the beginning of current
period 146,590,931 93,369 93,369 4,665,021 4,758,391 151,349,323 18 18 151,349,341

Changes of items during the period
　Dividends from surplus (4,664,880) (4,664,880) (4,664,880) (4,664,880)
　Net income 5,307,464 5,307,464 5,307,464 5,307,464
Net changes of items other than owners'
equity (18) (18) (18)

Total changes of items during the period - - - 642,584 642,584 642,584 (18) (18) 642,566

Balance at the end of current period 146,590,931 93,369 93,369 5,307,606 5,400,976 151,991,907 - - 151,991,907

Unitholders' equity
Valuation and translation

adjustments

Total net assets
Unitholders' capital

Surplus

Total unitholders'
equity

Valuation
difference

on
available-
for-sale

securities

Total
valuation

and
translation

adjustments

Voluntary retained earnings

Unappropriated
retained earnings
(undisposed loss)

Total surplus

Reserve for
reduction

entry

Total
voluntary
retained
earnings

Balance at the beginning of current
period 146,590,931 93,369 93,369 5,307,606 5,400,976 151,991,907 151,991,907

Changes of items during the period
　Reserve for reduction entry 242,879 242,879 (242,879) - - -
　Dividends from surplus (5,064,656) (5,064,656) (5,064,656) (5,064,656)
　Net income 5,007,489 5,007,489 5,007,489 5,007,489

Total changes of items during the period - 242,879 242,879 (300,046) (57,166) (57,166) (57,166)

Balance at the end of current period 146,590,931 336,249 336,249 5,007,559 5,343,809 151,934,740 151,934,740

Unitholders' equity

Total net assets

Unitholders' capital

Surplus

Total unitholders'
equity

Voluntary retained earnings

Unappropriated
retained earnings
(undisposed loss)

Total surplus
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Ⅴ.  Notes to Financial Statements  

1. Notes on Matters Concerning Significant Accounting Policies 
Period 

 
Item 

20th Fiscal Period [Reference] 
From: Jan. 1, 2014 
To: June 30, 2014 

21st Fiscal Period 
From: July 1, 2014 
To:  Dec. 31, 2014 

1. Method of 
depreciation 
of 
noncurrent 
assets 

(1) Property, plant and equipment (including 
assets in trust) 

The straight-line method is adopted. The 
useful life of property, plant and equipment 
are as follows: 

Buildings 2~39 years 
Structures 2~47 years 
Machinery and equipment 8~14 years 
Tools, furniture and fixtures 5~15 years 

(2) Intangible assets 
The straight-line method is adopted. 

(3) Long-term prepaid expenses 
The straight-line method is adopted.

(1) Property, plant and equipment (including 
assets in trust) 

The straight-line method is adopted. The 
useful life of property, plant and equipment 
are as follows: 

Buildings 2~39 years 
Structures 2~47 years 
Machinery and equipment 8~14 years 
Tools, furniture and fixtures 3~15 years 

(2) Intangible assets 
The straight-line method is adopted. 

(3) Long-term prepaid expenses 
The straight-line method is adopted.

2. Accounting 
for deferred 
assets 

Investment corporation bond issuance costs 
Amortized using the straight-line method over 

the period up to redemption of the investment 
corporation bonds. 

Investment corporation bond issuance costs 
Amortized using the straight-line method over 

the period up to redemption of the investment 
corporation bonds.

3. Standards 
for 
recognition 
of revenues 
and 
expenses 

Accounting for property tax, etc. 
Of the tax amount assessed and determined 

for property tax, city planning tax and 
depreciable assets tax, etc. on real estate 
owned, the method of charging the amount 
applicable to the concerned fiscal period to 
expenses as expenses related to rent business 
is adopted. 

The amount equivalent to property tax, etc. in 
the initial fiscal year reimbursed to the seller 
upon acquisition of real estate or trust 
beneficiary rights in real estate is included in the 
cost of acquisition of the concerned real estate 
and not recorded as expenses.

Accounting for property tax, etc. 
Of the tax amount assessed and determined 

for property tax, city planning tax and 
depreciable assets tax, etc. on real estate 
owned, the method of charging the amount 
applicable to the concerned fiscal period to 
expenses as expenses related to rent business 
is adopted. 

The amount equivalent to property tax, etc. in 
the initial fiscal year reimbursed to the seller 
upon acquisition of real estate or trust 
beneficiary rights in real estate is included in the 
cost of acquisition of the concerned real estate 
and not recorded as expenses. 

4. Hedge 
accounting 
method  

Not Applicable (1) Hedge accounting method 
Special treatment is adopted as 

requirements for special treatment for interest 
rate swap are satisfied. 

(2) Hedge instrument and hedge item 
Hedge instrument: Interest rate swap 

transactions 
Hedge item: loan Interest rates 

(3) Hedge policy 
The Investment Corporation conducts, 

pursuant to the risk management policy, 
derivative transactions for the purpose of 
hedging risks as stipulated in the Articles of 
incorporation.  

(4) Evaluation method for effectiveness of 
hedges 

Since interest rate swaps satisfy the 
requirements for special treatment, evaluation 
for effectiveness is omitted.  

5. Other 
significant 
matters 
serving as 
the basis for 
preparing 
financial 

(1) Accounting for trust beneficiary rights in real 
estate, etc. 

For trust beneficiary rights in real estate, 
etc. owned, all accounts of assets and 
liabilities within the assets in trust as well as 
all accounts of revenues generated and 
expenses incurred from the assets in trust are 

(1) Accounting for trust beneficiary rights in real 
estate, etc. 

For trust beneficiary rights in real estate, 
etc. owned, all accounts of assets and 
liabilities within the assets in trust as well as 
all accounts of revenues generated and 
expenses incurred from the assets in trust are 
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statements  recognized in the relevant account item of 
balance sheets and statements of income. 

The following material items of the assets in 
trust recognized in the relevant account item  
①  Cash and deposits in trust 
② Buildings in trust; structures in trust; 

machinery and equipment in trust; tools, 
furniture and fixtures in trust; land in trust, 
and construction in progress in trust 

③ Leasehold and security deposits in trust 
④ Tenant leasehold and security deposits in 

trust 
 

(2) Accounting for consumption tax, etc. 
For the accounting for consumption tax 

and local consumption tax, these taxes are 
excluded from related transaction amounts. 

recognized in the relevant account item of 
balance sheets and statements of income. 

The following material items of the assets in 
trust recognized in the relevant account item 
are separately listed on balance sheet 
① Cash and deposits in trust  
② Buildings in trust; structures in trust; 

machinery and equipment in trust; tools, 
furniture and fixtures in trust; land in trust, 
and construction in progress in trust 

③ Leasehold and security deposits in trust 
④ Tenant leasehold and security deposits in 

trust 
(2) Accounting for consumption tax, etc. 

For the accounting for consumption tax 
and local consumption tax, these taxes are 
excluded from related transaction amounts.

 

2. Notes to Balance Sheets 

20th Fiscal Period [Reference] 
From: Jan. 1, 2014 
To: June 30, 2014 

21st Fiscal Period 
From: July 1, 2014 
To:  Dec. 31, 2014 

*1. Pledged assets and secured liabilities 
The assets pledged as collateral are as follows: 
                           [Unit: thousands of yen] 

Cash and deposits in trust 380,427
Buildings 8,606,952
Structures 118,068
Tools, furniture and fixtures 3,678
Land 19,466,393
Buildings in trust 17,214,740
Structures in trust 256,061
Machinery and equipment in trust 66,130
Tools, furniture and fixtures in trust 7,306
Land in trust 25,214,198
Total 71,333,958

The liabilities secured by pledged assets are as follows: 
                            [Unit: thousands of yen] 

Tenant leasehold and security 
deposits 

7,772,645

Tenant leasehold and security 
deposits in trust 

15,732,556

Total 23,505,202
 

*1. Pledged assets and secured liabilities 
The assets pledged as collateral are as follows: 
                            [Unit: thousands of yen] 

Cash and deposits in trust 380,427
Buildings 8,409,012
Structures 107,965
Tools, furniture and fixtures 3,027
Land 19,466,393
Buildings in trust 16,430,224
Structures in trust 232,230
Machinery and equipment in trust 60,135
Tools, furniture and fixtures in trust 11,264
Land in trust 24,384,372
Total 69,485,055

 
The liabilities secured by pledged assets are as follows: 
                             [Unit: thousands of yen] 

Tenant leasehold and security 
deposits 

7,527,351

Tenant leasehold and security 
deposits in trust 

14,852,967

Total 22,380,318
*2. Minimum net assets as provided in Article 67, 

Paragraph 4 of the Investment Trust and Investment 
Corporation Law 
   50,000 thousand yen 

*2. Minimum net assets as provided in Article 67, 
Paragraph 4 of the Investment Trust and Investment 
Corporation Law 
    50,000 thousand yen 

3. Balance of unused portion of committed lines of credit
The Investment Corporation has concluded 

committed lines of credit (commitment lines) for the 
purpose of securing flexible and stable fund 
procurement means. 

 
                          [Unit: thousands of yen] 

Total amount of committed 
lines of credit 

19,000,000

Balance of used portion at 
end of period 

－

Balance of unused portion at 
end of period 

19,000,000

 

3. Balance of unused portion of committed lines of credit 
The Investment Corporation has concluded 

committed lines of credit (commitment lines) for the 
purpose of securing flexible and stable fund 
procurement means. 

 
                           [Unit: thousands of yen] 

Total amount of committed 
lines of credit 

19,000,000

Balance of used portion at 
end of period 

－

Balance of unused portion at 
end of period 

19,000,000
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3. Notes to Statements of Income 
20th Fiscal Period [Reference] 

From: Jan. 1, 2014 
To: June 30, 2014 

21st Fiscal Period 
From: July 1, 2014 
To:  Dec. 31, 2014 

*1. Breakdown of property leasing operating income 
(loss) 

     [Unit: thousands of yen]
 
A. Property leasing operating revenue 
Rent revenue – real estate 

Rent and parking, etc. fee income 9,500,121
Other lease business revenue 167,717
Total property leasing operating 
revenue 

9,667,839

B. Property leasing operating expenses 
Expenses related to rent business 

CM and PM fee 521,390
Taxes on properties 1,035,942
Insurance 14,124
Repair cost 287,409
Depreciation 2,208,847
Other lease business expenses 247,902

Total property leasing operating 
expenses                    4,315,615

C. Property leasing operating income (A－B)           
     5,352,223  
 

*1. Breakdown of property leasing operating income 
(loss) 

     [Unit: thousands of yen]
 
A. Property leasing operating revenue 
Rent revenue – real estate 

Rent and parking, etc. fee income 9,549,441
Other lease business revenue 48,774
Total property leasing operating 
revenue 

9,598,215

B. Property leasing operating expenses 
Expenses related to rent business 

CM and PM fee 507,545
Taxes on properties 1,024,161
Insurance 13,448
Repair cost 363,328
Depreciation 2,159,839
Other lease business expenses 313,331

Total property leasing operating 
expenses                    4,381,655

C. Property leasing operating income (A－B)           
      5,216,560 

*2. Breakdown of gain (loss) on sales of real estate 
properties 

AEON Hadano Shopping Center 
(transfer 25% of quasi co-ownership of the trust 
beneficiary rights)  

 [Unit: thousands of yen]
Proceeds from sales of real estate 
properties 

2,950,000

Cost of sales of real estate properties 1,969,984
Other sales expenses 14,750
Gain on sales of real estate properties 965,265

*2. Breakdown of gain (loss) on sales of real estate 
properties 

AEON Hadano Shopping Center 
(transfer 20% of quasi co-ownership of the trust 
beneficiary rights)  

 [Unit: thousands of yen]
Proceeds from sales of real estate 
properties 

2,360,000

Cost of sales of real estate properties 1,556,398
Other sales expenses 11,800
Gain on sales of real estate properties 791,801

 

4.  Notes to Statements of Unitholders’ Equity 
20th Fiscal Period [Reference] 

From: Jan. 1, 2014 
To: June 30, 2014 

21st Fiscal Period 
From: July 1, 2014 
To:  Dec. 31, 2014 

*1. Total number of investment units authorized and total 
number of investment units issued and outstanding 

 Total number of investment units authorized 
4,000,000 units

Total number of investment units issued and 
outstanding 

            496,000 units

*1. Total number of investment units authorized and total 
number of investment units issued and outstanding 

 Total number of investment units authorized 
4,000,000 units

Total number of investment units issued and 
outstanding  

496,000 units
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5.  Notes on Tax-Effect Accounting 

20th Fiscal Period [Reference] 
From: Jan. 1, 2014 
To: June 30, 2014 

21st Fiscal Period 
From: July 1, 2014 
To:  Dec. 31, 2014 

1. Breakdown of main causes for the occurrence of 
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 

                           [Unit: thousands of yen]
Deferred tax assets: 
Non-deductible income and 
enterprise taxes 

13

Total deferred tax assets 13
Net amount of deferred tax assets 13
 

2. Breakdown of major components that caused 
significant differences between the statutory tax rate 
and the effective income tax rate after application of 
tax-effect accounting 

Japanese statutory tax rate  36.59% 
Adjustments: 

Deductible cash distributions (34.91%)  
Other        (1.66%) 
Effective income tax rate after application of  
tax-effect accounting         0.02% 

1. Breakdown of main causes for the occurrence of 
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 

                           [Unit: thousands of yen]
Deferred tax assets: 
Non-deductible income and 
enterprise taxes 

21

Total deferred tax assets 21
Net amount of deferred tax assets 21
 

2. Breakdown of major components that caused 
significant differences between the statutory tax rate 
and the effective income tax rate after application of 
tax-effect accounting 

 
Japanese statutory tax rate  34.16% 
Adjustments: 

Deductible cash distributions (32.84%)  
Other        (1.30%) 
Effective income tax rate after application of  
tax-effect accounting         0.02% 

 

6. Notes on Financial Instruments 

20th Fiscal Period [from January 1, 2014 to June 30, 2014] [Reference] 

1. Matters concerning status of financial instruments 

(1) Policy for handling financial instruments 

The Investment Corporation adopts a basic policy of managing its assets by investing primarily in real estate, etc. 

in an aim to secure stable earnings over the medium to long term. In conducting management based on the 

described basic policy, the Investment Corporation procures funds for acquisition of real estate, etc., payment of 

repairs and dividends, repayment of interest-bearing liabilities and other uses by borrowing from financial 

institutions, issuing investment corporation bonds and additionally issuing new investment units. 

In managing surplus funds, the Investment Corporation adopts a policy of engaging in such with an emphasis on 

security and liquidity and not engaging in investments that are aimed solely on proactively acquiring gains on 

investments. Based on the concerned policy, investments in securities and monetary claims made to manage 

surplus funds are managed in deposits in principle. 

In investing in rights pertaining to derivative transactions, the Investment Corporation adopts a policy of engaging 

in such only when the purpose is to hedge interest rate fluctuation risks and other risks arising from the Investment 

Corporation’s liabilities. At present, the Investment Corporation does not engage in derivative transactions. 

 

(2) Description of financial instruments and associated risks, and risk management structure 

Deposits are those for managing the investment corporation’s surplus funds, and are exposed to credit risks of, 

for example, failure of the financial institutions that are holding the deposits. Therefore, the Investment Corporation 

limits the credit risks by restricting the deposit period to short term and depositing with financial institutions that 

have a high credit rating, along with taking heed of security by depositing an amount that is no more than the total 

amount of borrowings from each of the financial institutions that are holding the deposits. 

Funds from borrowings and investment corporation bonds are used for acquisition of primarily real estate, etc., 
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repayment of existing borrowings and other purposes, and are exposed to liquidity risks at the time of 

repayment/redemption. Therefore, the Investment Corporation limits the liquidity risks by keeping the ratio of 

interest-bearing liabilities to total assets at a low level, as well as diversifying fund procurement means, spreading 

out lending financial institutions and repayment dates, establishing commitment lines and securing liquidity on hand, 

and also controls risks by preparing monthly fund management plans. 

In addition, of borrowings, short-term borrowings are exposed to risks of the interest rate payable rising. 

Therefore, the Investment Corporation limits the risks of the interest rate payable rising by keeping the ratio of 

interest-bearing liabilities to total assets at a low level and keeping the ratio of long-term and fixed-rate borrowings 

high. 

Tenant leasehold and security deposits are deposits from tenants, and tenant deposits are exposed to liquidity 

risks at the time of tenants vacating properties and security deposits are exposed to liquidity risks at the time of 

repayment. Therefore, the Investment Corporation limits the liquidity risks by keeping the ratio of liabilities to total 

assets including tenant and security deposits at a low level, as well as, similarly with borrowings, etc., diversifying 

fund procurement means, establishing commitment lines and securing liquidity on hand, and also controls risks by 

preparing monthly fund management plans. 

 

(3) Supplementary explanation on matters concerning fair value, etc. of financial instruments 

The fair value of financial instruments, aside from values based on market price, include values based on 

reasonable calculation when there is no market price. Since certain assumptions are adopted in the calculation of 

the concerned values, there may be cases where the concerned values will vary when different assumptions, etc. 

are adopted. 

 

2. Matters concerning fair value, etc. of financial instruments 

The following are the carrying amount and fair value as of June 30, 2014, and the difference between these 

amounts. 

 [Unit: thousands of yen] 
 Carrying amount Fair value Difference 
(1) Cash and deposits 12,896,501 12,896,501 －

(2) Cash and deposits in trust 5,008,171 5,008,171 －

Assets total 17,904,673 17,904,673 －

(1) Short-term loans payable 2,000,000 2,000,000 －

(2) Current portion of long-term loans payable 9,540,000 9,563,790 23,790
(3) Investment corporation bond 5,000,000 5,057,250 57,250
(4) Long-term loans payable 54,380,000 55,331,816 951,816
(5) Tenant leasehold and security deposits 10,252,518 9,678,331 (574,187)
(6) Tenant leasehold and security deposits in trust 6,181,399 6,372,766 191,367

Liabilities total 87,353,918 88,003,955 650,037

 

Note 1: Method of calculation of fair value of financial instruments 

Assets 

(1) Cash and deposits; (2) Cash and deposits in trust 

As these are settled within a short period of time, the fair value is approximately the same as the book value and is 

thus stated at that book value. 

Liabilities 

(1) Short-term loans payable 
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As these are settled within a short period of time, the fair value is approximately the same as the book value and is 

thus stated at that book value. 

(2) Current portion of long-term loans payable; (4) Long-term loans payable 

For floating-rate long-term loans payable, as these reflect the market interest rate within a short period of time, the 

fair value is thought to be approximately the same as the book value and is thus stated at that book value. For fixed-

rate long-term loans payable, the fair value is calculated based on present value of the future cash flows of such, 

discounted by the interest rate that takes into account the period remaining until the maturity date and credit risks. 

(3) Investment corporation bond 

The fair value of the investment corporation bond is calculated based on market price. 

(5) Tenant leasehold and security deposits; (6) Tenant leasehold and security deposits in trust 

Of these, the fair value of security deposits and security deposits in trust is calculated based on present value of 

the future cash flows of such, discounted by the interest rate that takes into account the period remaining until the 

maturity date and credit risks. 

 

Note 2: The following are the financial instruments for which discerning of the fair value is recognized to be extremely 

difficult. 

 [Unit: thousands of yen] 
Account Carrying amount 

Tenant leasehold and security deposits* 8,854,128
Tenant leasehold and security deposits in trust* 14,313,150

Total 23,167,279

* Of these, tenant leasehold deposits and tenant leasehold deposits in trust are not subject to disclosure of the fair 

value because reasonable estimation of future cash flows is recognized to be difficult due to there being no market 

price and the actual deposit period not being able to be calculated even if the period of the lease contract is 

predetermined since there is the possibility of the contract being terminated during the contract period or 

renewed/extended. 

 

Note 3: Amount of redemption scheduled to be due after the date of settlement of accounts for monetary claims  

[Unit: thousands of yen] 
 

Due within  
1 year 

Due after  
1 year,  

but within  
2 years 

Due after  
2 years,  

but within  
3 years 

Due after  
3 years,  

but within  
4 years 

Due after  
4 years,  

but within  
5 years 

 
Due after  
5 years  

Cash and deposits 12,896,501 － － － － －

Cash and deposits in trust 5,008,171 － － － － －

Total 17,904,673 － － － － －
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Note 4: Amount of repayment scheduled to be due after the date of settlement of accounts for borrowings and other 

interest-bearing liabilities 

[Unit: thousands of yen] 
 

Due within  
1 year 

Due after 
1 year,  

but within 
2 years 

Due after 
2 years,  

but within 
3 years 

Due after 
3 years,  

but within 
4 years 

Due after  
4 years,  

but within  
5 years 

Due after 
5 years 

Short-term loans payable 2,000,000 － － － － －

Current portion of  
long-term loans payable 

9,540,000 － － － － －

Investment corporation bond － 5,000,000 － － － －

Long-term loans payable － 7,240,000 7,440,000 13,500,000 4,700,000 21,500,000
Tenant leasehold and security 
deposits 

95,295 95,295 95,295 95,295 95,295 135,002

Tenant leasehold and security 
deposits in trust 

983,426 983,426 983,426 983,426 663,142 1,509,000

Total 12,618,722 13,318,722 8,518,722 14,578,722 5,458,438 23,144,002

 

 

21st Fiscal Period [from July 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014]  

1. Matters concerning status of financial instruments 

(1) Policy for handling financial instruments 

The Investment Corporation adopts a basic policy of managing its assets by investing primarily in real estate, etc. 

in an aim to secure stable earnings over the medium to long term. In conducting management based on the 

described basic policy, the Investment Corporation procures funds for acquisition of real estate, etc., payment of 

repairs and dividends, repayment of interest-bearing liabilities and other uses by borrowing from financial 

institutions, issuing investment corporation bonds and additionally issuing new investment units. 

In managing surplus funds, the Investment Corporation adopts a policy of engaging in such with an emphasis on 

security and liquidity and not engaging in investments that are aimed solely on proactively acquiring gains on 

investments. Based on the concerned policy, investments in securities and monetary claims made to manage 

surplus funds are managed in deposits in principle. 

In investing in rights pertaining to derivative transactions, the Investment Corporation adopts a policy of engaging 

in such only when the purpose is to hedge interest rate fluctuation risks and other risks arising from the Investment 

Corporation’s liabilities. At present, the Investment Corporation does not engage in derivative transactions. 

 

(2) Description of financial instruments and associated risks, and risk management structure 

Deposits are those for managing the investment corporation’s surplus funds, and are exposed to credit risks of, 

for example, failure of the financial institutions that are holding the deposits. Therefore, the Investment Corporation 

limits the credit risks by restricting the deposit period to short term and depositing with financial institutions that 

have a high credit rating, along with taking heed of security by depositing an amount that is no more than the total 

amount of borrowings from each of the financial institutions that are holding the deposits. 

Funds from borrowings and investment corporation bonds are used for acquisition of primarily real estate, etc., 

repayment of existing borrowings and other purposes, and are exposed to liquidity risks at the time of 

repayment/redemption. Therefore, the Investment Corporation limits the liquidity risks by keeping the ratio of 

interest-bearing liabilities to total assets at a low level, as well as diversifying fund procurement means, spreading 

out lending financial institutions and repayment dates, establishing commitment lines and securing liquidity on hand, 

and also controls risks by preparing monthly fund management plans. 
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In addition, of borrowings, short-term borrowings are exposed to risks of the interest rate payable rising. 

Therefore, the Investment Corporation limits the risks of the interest rate payable rising by keeping the ratio of 

interest-bearing liabilities to total assets at a low level and keeping the ratio of long-term and fixed-rate borrowings 

high.  Furthermore, interest fluctuation risks are avoided by fixating interest payments using derivative 

transactions (interest rate swap transactions) as a hedge instrument for some of floating-rate long-term 

borrowings. For hedge accounting method, hedge instrument, hedge item, hedge policy and evaluation of 

effectiveness of hedges, please refer to the above “Notes on Matters Concerning Significant Accounting Policies, 

4. Hedge accounting method.” 

Tenant leasehold and security deposits are deposits from tenants, and tenant deposits are exposed to liquidity 

risks at the time of tenants vacating properties and security deposits are exposed to liquidity risks at the time of 

repayment. Therefore, the Investment Corporation limits the liquidity risks by keeping the ratio of liabilities to total 

assets including tenant and security deposits at a low level, as well as, similarly with borrowings, etc., diversifying 

fund procurement means, establishing commitment lines and securing liquidity on hand, and also controls risks by 

preparing monthly fund management plans. 

 

(3) Supplementary explanation on matters concerning fair value, etc. of financial instruments 

The fair value of financial instruments, aside from values based on market price, include values based on 

reasonable calculation when there is no market price. Since certain assumptions are adopted in the calculation of 

the concerned values, there may be cases where the concerned values will vary when different assumptions, etc. 

are adopted. 

 

2. Matters concerning fair value, etc. of financial instruments 

The following are the carrying amount and fair value as of December 31, 2014, and the difference between these 

amounts. 

 [Unit: thousands of yen] 
 Carrying amount Fair value Difference 
(1) Cash and deposits 16,432,256 16,432,256 －

(2) Cash and deposits in trust 3,091,718 3,091,718 －

Assets total 19,523,974 19,523,974 －

(1) Short-term loans payable 2,500,000 2,500,000 －

(2) Current portion of long-term loans payable 10,240,000 10,277,591 37,591
(3) Investment corporation bond 5,000,000 5,042,200 42,200
(4) Long-term loans payable 52,560,000 53,595,911 1,035,911
(5) Tenant leasehold and security deposits 9,996,941 9,559,284 (437,657)
(6) Tenant leasehold and security deposits in trust 5,433,204 5,590,842 157,637

Liabilities total 85,730,146 86,565,829 835,682
Derivative transactions － － －

Derivative transactions total － － －

 

Note 1: Method of calculation of fair value of financial instruments and matters related to derivative transactions 

Assets 

(1) Cash and deposits; (2) Cash and deposits in trust 

As these are settled within a short period of time, the fair value is approximately the same as the book value and is 

thus stated at that book value. 

Liabilities 
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(1) Short-term loans payable 

As these are settled within a short period of time, the fair value is approximately the same as the book value and is 

thus stated at that book value. 

(2) Current portion of long-term loans payable; (4) Long-term loans payable 

For floating-rate long-term loans payable, as these reflect the market interest rate within a short period of time, the 

fair value is thought to be approximately the same as the book value and is thus stated at that book value. For fixed-

rate long-term loans payable, the fair value is calculated based on present value of the future cash flows of such, 

discounted by the interest rate that takes into account the period remaining until the maturity date and credit risks. 

However, the fair value of floating-rate long-term loans payable subject to special treatment of interest rate swap 

(please refer to “Derivative transactions” below) and fixed-rate long-term loans payable is calculated based on 

present value of the future cash flows of such, discounted by the interest rate that takes into account the period 

remaining until the maturity date and credit risks. 

(3) Investment corporation bond 

The fair value of the investment corporation bond is calculated based on market price. 

(5) Tenant leasehold and security deposits; (6) Tenant leasehold and security deposits in trust 

Of these, the fair value of security deposits and security deposits in trust is calculated based on present value of 

the future cash flows of such, discounted by the interest rate that takes into account the period remaining until the 

maturity date and credit risks. 

Derivative transactions  

① Transactions to which hedge accounting is not applied  

  Not applicable. 

② Transactions to which hedge accounting is applies 

       Contract amount or amount equivalent to the principal determined in the contract, etc. on the settlement 

date for each hedge accounting is as follows.    

 

Hedge 
accounting 
method  

Type, etc. of 
derivative 
transactions  

Main hedge item
 

Contract amount, etc. 
(thousand yen)  
 

Fair 
value  

Calculation 
method of 
fair value  

 Over 1 year  
Special 
treatment for 
interest rate 
swap  
 

Interest rate swap 
transaction  
Variable 
receipt/fixed 
payment  

Long-term loan 3,300,000 3,300,000 * － 

*Since those under special treatment for interest rate swap are treated as a unit with the long-term loan, the hedge 

item, their fair values are included in the fair value of the long-term loans. (Please refer to the above Liabilities (2) 

and (4).) 

 

Note 2: The following are the financial instruments for which discerning of the fair value is recognized to be extremely 

difficult. 

 [Unit: thousands of yen] 
Account Carrying amount 

Tenant leasehold and security deposits* 8,846,628
Tenant leasehold and security deposits in trust* 14,210,250

Total 23,056,878

* Of these, tenant leasehold deposits and tenant leasehold deposits in trust are not subject to disclosure of the fair 



 
 

41 
 

value because reasonable estimation of future cash flows is recognized to be difficult due to there being no market 

price and the actual deposit period not being able to be calculated even if the period of the lease contract is 

predetermined since there is the possibility of the contract being terminated during the contract period or 

renewed/extended. 

 

Note 3: Amount of redemption scheduled to be due after the date of settlement of accounts for monetary claims  

[Unit: thousands of yen] 
 

Due within  
1 year 

Due after  
1 year,  

but within  
2 years 

Due after  
2 years,  

but within  
3 years 

Due after  
3 years,  

but within  
4 years 

Due after  
4 years,  

but within  
5 years 

 
Due after  
5 years  

Cash and deposits 16,432,256 － － － － －

Cash and deposits in trust 3,091,718 － － － － －

Total 19,523,974 － － － － －

 

Note 4: Amount of repayment scheduled to be due after the date of settlement of accounts for borrowings and other 

interest-bearing liabilities 

[Unit: thousands of yen] 
 

Due within  
1 year 

Due after 
1 year,  

but within 
2 years 

Due after 
2 years,  

but within 
3 years 

Due after 
3 years,  

but within 
4 years 

Due after  
4 years,  

but within  
5 years 

Due after 
5 years 

Short-term loans payable 2,500,000 － － － － －

Current portion of  
long-term loans payable 

10,240,000 － － － － －

Investment corporation bond － 5,000,000 － － － －

Long-term loans payable － 4,560,000 9,000,000 10,700,000 5,500,000 22,800,000
Tenant leasehold and security 
deposits 

95,295 95,295 95,295 95,295 95,295 95,296

Tenant leasehold and security 
deposits in trust 

983,426 983,426 983,426 903,355 503,000 1,006,000

Total 13,818,722 10,638,722 10,078,722 11,698,651 6,098,295 23,901,296

 

7. Notes on Investment and Rental Properties 

20th Fiscal Period [from January 1, 2014 to June 30, 2014] [Reference] 

The Investment Corporation owns rental retail facilities, etc. (including land) and land interest in major cities and other 

regions. The following are the carrying amount, amount of increase (decrease) during the fiscal period and fair value as of 

June 30, 2014 of these investment and rental properties. 

 [Unit: thousands of yen] 
Carrying amount 

Fair value  
at end of period Balance  

at beginning of period 

Amount of increase 
(decrease)  

during period 

Balance  
at end of period 

239,501,710 7,174,817 246,676,528 279,310,000

Note 1:  The carrying amount is the amount of the cost of acquisition less accumulated depreciation. 

Note 2:  Of the amount of increase (decrease) during the period, the amount of increase is due mainly to the acquisitions of Kohnan 

Kawasaki Oda Sakae Mall (land interest) and Mitsui Shopping Park LaLaport SHIN-MISATO Annex, and the amount of 

decrease is due mainly to depreciation and the sale of AEON Hadano Shopping Center (partial).  

Note 3:  The fair value at the end of the fiscal period is the value found in real estate appraisal or investigation by an outside real estate 

appraiser. 
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The income (loss) in the 20th fiscal period for investment and rental properties is as presented in the “Notes to 

Statements of Income.” 

 

21st Fiscal Period [from July 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014]  

The Investment Corporation owns rental retail facilities, etc. (including land) and land interest in major cities and other 

regions. The following are the carrying amount, amount of increase (decrease) during the fiscal period and fair value as of 

December 31, 2014 of these investment and rental properties. 

 [Unit: thousands of yen] 
Carrying amount 

Fair value  
at end of period Balance  

at beginning of period 

Amount of increase 
(decrease)  

during period 

Balance  
at end of period 

246,676,528 (3,476,117) 243,200,411 279,500,000

Note 1:  The carrying amount is the amount of the cost of acquisition less accumulated depreciation. 

Note 2:  Of the amount of increase (decrease) during the period, the amount of increase is due mainly to capital expenditure work of 

AEON Shinagawa Shopping Center and the amount of decrease is due mainly to depreciation and the sales of AEON Hadano 

Shopping Center (partial).  

Note 3:  The fair value at the end of the fiscal period is the value found in real estate appraisal or investigation by an outside real estate 

appraiser. 

 

The income (loss) in the 21st fiscal period for investment and rental properties is as presented in the “Notes to 

Statements of Income.” 
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8. Notes on Related-Party Transactions 
20th Fiscal Period [Reference] 

From: Jan. 1, 2014 
To: June 30, 2014 

21st Fiscal Period 
From: July 1, 2014 
To:  Dec. 31, 2014 

The following are the transactions between the investment 
corporation and related parties. 
1. (1) Name of related party 

Mitsui Fudosan Co., Ltd. 
 (2) Relationship between the Investment Corporation 

and the related party 
Interested party, etc. of the asset management 

company that provides management of assets of 
the Investment Corporation as provided in Article 
67, Paragraph 4, Item 9 of the Regulations 
Concerning Accounting of Investment Corporations 

 (3) Number of the Investment Corporation’s investment 
units held by the related party expressed as a 
percentage of the Investment Corporation’s total 
number of investment units issued and outstanding 

5.89% 
Note: The number of investment units held expressed as 

a percentage of the total number of investment 
units issued and outstanding is rounded to the 
second decimal place. 

 (4) Nature of transaction 
① Acquisition of Mitsui Shopping Park LaLaport SHIN-

MISATO Annex 
② Mitsui Outlet Park Iruma rent, Mitsui Shopping Park 

LaLaport Iwata rent, GINZA GLASSE rent, Mitsui 
Shopping Park LaLagarden KASUKABE rent, 
Mitsui Shopping Park ALPARK (East Building) rent 
and Mitsui Shopping Park LaLaport SHIN-MISATO 
Annex rent 

③ SCM fee based on SC management agreements 
and master lease fee based on master lease 
contracts 

 
(5) Transaction amount for each type of transaction 
① 3,930,000 thousand yen 
② 2,360,509 thousand yen 
③       231,939 thousand yen 
 

(6) Transaction terms and conditions, and policy for 
deciding on transaction terms and conditions 

①  The acquisition decision-making is in accordance 
with the Rules Concerning Conflicts of Interest set 
forth by the asset management company. 
Acquisition is not made in excess of the value 
found in real estate appraisal by a real estate 
appraiser (corporation) that is not an interested 
party, etc. 

② The rent of Mitsui Outlet Park Iruma, Mitsui 
Shopping Park LaLaport Iwata, GINZA GLASSE, 
Mitsui Shopping Park LaLagarden KASUKABE, 
Mitsui Shopping Park ALPARK (East Building) and 
Mitsui Shopping Park Lalaport SHIN-MISATO 
Annex is based on master lease contracts 
concluded with Mitsui Fudosan Co., Ltd., and the 
transaction terms and conditions are decided by 
taking into account such factors as market 
standards. 

③  The SCM fee and master lease fee, etc., are 
based on SC management agreements and 
master lease contracts, respectively, concluded 
with Mitsui Fudosan Co., Ltd., and the transaction 

The following are the transactions between the investment 
corporation and related parties. 
1. (1) Name of related party 

Mitsui Fudosan Co., Ltd. 
 (2) Relationship between the Investment Corporation 

and the related party 
Interested party, etc. of the asset management 

company that provides management of assets of 
the Investment Corporation as provided in Article 
67, Paragraph 4, Item 9 of the Regulations 
Concerning Accounting of Investment Corporations 

 (3) Number of the Investment Corporation’s investment 
units held by the related party expressed as a 
percentage of the Investment Corporation’s total 
number of investment units issued and outstanding 

5.89% 
Note: The number of investment units held expressed as 

a percentage of the total number of investment 
units issued and outstanding is rounded to the 
second decimal place. 

 (4) Nature of transaction 
① Mitsui Outlet Park Iruma rent, Mitsui Shopping Park 

LaLaport Iwata rent, GINZA GLASSE rent, Mitsui 
Shopping Park LaLagarden KASUKABE rent, 
Mitsui Shopping Park ALPARK (East Building) rent 
and Mitsui Shopping Park LaLaport SHIN-
MISATO Annex rent 

② SCM fee based on SC management agreements 
and master lease fee based on master lease 
contracts 

 
 
 
(5) Transaction amount for each type of transaction 
① 2,416,937 thousand yen 
② 235,612 thousand yen 
 
 

(6) Transaction terms and conditions, and policy for 
deciding on transaction terms and conditions 

①  The rent of Mitsui Outlet Park Iruma, Mitsui 
Shopping Park LaLaport Iwata, GINZA GLASSE, 
Mitsui Shopping Park LaLagarden KASUKABE, 
Mitsui Shopping Park ALPARK (East Building) and 
Mitsui Shopping Park Lalaport SHIN-MISATO 
Annex is based on master lease contracts 
concluded with Mitsui Fudosan Co., Ltd., and the 
transaction terms and conditions are decided by 
taking into account such factors as market 
standards. 

②  The SCM fee and master lease fee, etc., are 
based on SC management agreements and 
master lease contracts, respectively, concluded 
with Mitsui Fudosan Co., Ltd., and the transaction 
terms and conditions are decided by taking into 
account such factors as market standards, nature 
of services provided and overall operational 
capacity. 
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terms and conditions are decided by taking into 
account such factors as market standards, nature 
of services provided and overall operational 
capacity. 

 
 (7) Balance on last day of the fiscal period for each 

main item of claims or obligations arising from the 
transaction 

                                        [Unit: thousands of yen] 
①   Operating accounts receivable           1,694 
②   Operating accounts payable              48,915 
 
 
 
 

2. (1) Name of related party 
Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited 

 (2) Relationship between the Investment Corporation 
and the related party 

Asset custodian that provides custody of assets 
of the Investment Corporation as provided in Article 
67, Paragraph 4, Item 10 of the Regulations 
Concerning Accounting of Investment Corporations 

 (3) Number of the Investment Corporation’s investment 
units held by the related party expressed as a 
percentage of the Investment Corporation’s total 
number of investment units issued and outstanding 

Not applicable. 
 (4) Nature of transaction 

Borrowing of funds 
 (5) Transaction amount for each type of transaction 

① Drawdown              - thousand yen
② Repayment of principal                - thousand yen

 (6) Transaction terms and conditions, and policy for 
deciding on transaction terms and conditions 

Transaction terms and conditions are decided by 
taking into account such factors as demand for 
funds, borrowing terms and conditions and market 
standards. 

 (7) Balance on last day of the fiscal period for each 
main item of claims or obligations arising from the 
transaction 

                                             [Unit: thousands of yen] 
①  Long-term loans payable       3,700,000 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 (7) Balance on last day of the fiscal period for each 
main item of claims or obligations arising from the 
transaction 

                                        [Unit: thousands of yen] 
①   Operating accounts receivable            2,339 
      Advances received                                3,456 
                                     
②   Operating accounts payable               44,969 
      Prepaid expenses                                       69             
       

2. (1) Name of related party 
Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited 

 (2) Relationship between the Investment Corporation 
and the related party 

Asset custodian that provides custody of assets 
of the Investment Corporation as provided in Article 
67, Paragraph 4, Item 10 of the Regulations 
Concerning Accounting of Investment Corporations 

 (3) Number of the Investment Corporation’s investment 
units held by the related party expressed as a 
percentage of the Investment Corporation’s total 
number of investment units issued and outstanding 

Not applicable. 
 (4) Nature of transaction 

Borrowing of funds 
 (5) Transaction amount for each type of transaction 

① Drawdown              - thousand yen
② Repayment of principal                - thousand yen

 (6) Transaction terms and conditions, and policy for 
deciding on transaction terms and conditions 

Transaction terms and conditions are decided by 
taking into account such factors as demand for 
funds, borrowing terms and conditions and market 
standards. 

 (7) Balance on last day of the fiscal period for each 
main item of claims or obligations arising from the 
transaction 

                                             [Unit: thousands of yen] 
②  Long-term loans payable       3,700,000 

 

 

9. Notes on Per Unit Information 
20th Fiscal Period [Reference] 

From: Jan. 1, 2014 
To: June 30, 2014 

21st Fiscal Period 
From: July 1, 2014 
To:  Dec. 31, 2014 

Net assets per unit            306,435 yen 
Net income per unit             10,700 yen 

No diluted net income per unit is presented as there 
are no diluted investment units. 

Net assets per unit            306,320 yen 
Net income per unit             10,095 yen 

No diluted net income per unit is presented as there 
are no diluted investment units. 
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  Note: The following is the basis for calculating the net income per unit. 

 20th Fiscal Period [Reference] 
From: Jan. 1, 2014 
To: June 30, 2014 

21st Fiscal Period 
From: July 1, 2014 
To:  Dec. 31, 2014

Net income 5,307,464 thousand yen 5,007,489 thousand yen
Amount not attributable to common 
unitholders 

－ －

Net income attributable to common 
investment units 

5,307,464 thousand yen 5,007,489 thousand yen

Average number of investment units 
during period 

496,000 units 496,000 units

 

10. Notes on Significant Subsequent Events 
20th Fiscal Period [Reference] 

From: Jan. 1, 2014 
To: June 30, 2014 

21st Fiscal Period 
From: July 1, 2014 
To:  Dec. 31, 2014 

Not applicable. Not applicable. 
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11. Notes on segment information 

 

20th Fiscal Period [from January 1, 2014 to June 30, 2014] [Reference] and 

21st Fiscal Period [from July 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014] 

 

1. Operating segment information 

Disclosure is omitted as the Investment Corporation is comprised of a single reportable segment engaged in the 

property rental business. 

 

2. Enterprise-wide disclosures 

(1) Information about products and services 

Disclosure is not required as revenues from external customers for the single segment is in excess of 90% of 

total revenues. 

 

(2) Information about geographic areas 

Revenues from overseas customers: 

Disclosure is not required as revenues from external customers attributed to Japan are in excess of 90% of total 

revenues. 

 

Tangible fixed assets: 

Disclosure is not required as tangible fixed assets located in Japan are in excess of 90% of total tangible fixed 

assets. 
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Statements of Cash Distributions 
Period 

 
Item 

20th Fiscal Period [Reference]
From: Jan. 1, 2014 
To: June 30, 2014 

21st Fiscal Period 
From: July 1, 2014 
To:  Dec. 31, 2014 

 yen yen

Ⅰ. Unappropriated retained earnings 5,307,606,251 5,007,559,542 

Ⅱ. Amount of distributions 5,064,656,000 4,814,672,000 

[Amount of distribution per investment 
unit] 

(10,211) (9,707) 

Ⅲ. Voluntary retained earnings   

Provision of reserve for reduction entry  242,879,935 192,571,287 

Ⅳ. Retained earnings carried forward 70,316 316,255 

 
 

Method of calculation of amount of 

distributions 

Pursuant to the distribution policy 

set forth in Article 37(1) of the 

Investment Corporation’s Articles of 

Incorporation, the amount of 

distributions shall be in excess of an 

amount equivalent to 90% of the 

amount of the Investment 

Corporation’s earnings available for 

distribution as provided in Article 67-

15 of the Special Taxation Measures 

Law, but no more than the amount 

of earnings. Based on such policy, 

the Investment Corporation decided 

to pay out distributions of earnings 

in an amount of unappropriated 

retained earnings remaining after 

deducting provision of reserve for 

reduction entry as provided in Article 

66-2 of the Special Taxation 

Measures Law. Accordingly, the 

Investment Corporation declared an 

amount of distributions of 

5,064,656,000 yen, which is the 

largest integral multiple of the 

number of investment units issued 

and outstanding (496,000 units). 

The Investment Corporation shall 

not distribute cash in excess of 

earnings set forth in Article 37(2) of 

the Investment Corporation’s 

Articles of Incorporation. 

Pursuant to the distribution policy 

set forth in Article 37(1) of the 

Investment Corporation’s Articles of 

Incorporation, the amount of 

distributions shall be in excess of an 

amount equivalent to 90% of the 

amount of the Investment 

Corporation’s earnings available for 

distribution as provided in Article 67-

15 of the Special Taxation Measures 

Law, but no more than the amount 

of earnings. Based on such policy, 

the Investment Corporation decided 

to pay out distributions of earnings 

in an amount of unappropriated 

retained earnings remaining after 

deducting provision of reserve for 

reduction entry as provided in Article 

66-2 of the Special Taxation 

Measures Law. Accordingly, the 

Investment Corporation declared an 

amount of distributions of 

4,814,672,000 yen, which is the 

largest integral multiple of the 

number of investment units issued 

and outstanding (496,000 units). 

The Investment Corporation shall 

not distribute cash in excess of 

earnings set forth in Article 37(2) of 

the Investment Corporation’s 

Articles of Incorporation. 
  



 
 

48 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Note 
The accompanying English financial information, comprising of balance sheets, statements of income and retained 
earnings, statements of changes in net assets, notes to financial information and statements of cash dividends, not 
including statements of cash flows, for the six months ended December 31, 2014 have been translated and modified from 
the Japanese financial statements of the Investment Corporation for the six months ended December 31, 2014 prepared 
in accordance with the Act on Investment Trusts and Investment Corporations of Japan. 
Under Article 130 of the Act on Investment Trusts and Investment Corporations of Japan, the Japanese financial 
statements, for the six months ended December31, 2014, prepared in accordance with the Act on Investment Trusts and 
Investment Corporations of Japan have been audited by Ernst & Young ShinNihon LLC, in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in Japan. Ernst & Young ShinNihon LLC report included in this document refers exclusively 
to the Japanese financial statements for the six months ended December 31, 2014. Ernst & Young ShinNihon LLC report 
does not cover any other information in this document and should be read as such. For more information please see the 
Japanese financial statements for the six months ended December 31, 2014 prepared in accordance with the Act on 
Investment Trusts and Investment Corporations of Japan. 
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（単位：千円）

前期（ご参考）

（自 平成26年 1 月 1 日
至 平成26年 6 月30日）

当期

（自 平成26年 7 月 1 日
至 平成26年12月31日）

営業活動によるキャッシュ・フロー

税引前当期純利益 5,308,377 5,008,534

減価償却費 2,208,847 2,159,839

投資法人債発行費償却 3,074 3,074

受取利息 △3,888 △3,727

支払利息 421,964 423,752

営業未収入金の増減額（△は増加） 7,211 △3,647

前払費用の増減額（△は増加） 11,287 18,288

営業未払金の増減額（△は減少） 170,559 △212,792

未払費用の増減額（△は減少） 19,246 △11,733

未払消費税等の増減額（△は減少） △529,727 163,393

前受金の増減額（△は減少） 60,345 △32,659

信託有形固定資産の売却による減少額 1,969,984 1,556,398

その他 △49,655 32,995

小計 9,597,627 9,101,716

利息の受取額 4,418 3,486

利息の支払額 △407,827 △443,547

法人税等の支払額又は還付額（△は支払） △1,409 △719

営業活動によるキャッシュ・フロー 9,192,808 8,660,936

投資活動によるキャッシュ・フロー

有価証券の取得による支出 △400,000 △400,000

有価証券の償還による収入 400,000 400,000

有形固定資産の取得による支出 △3,986,932 △17,909

信託有形固定資産の取得による支出 △7,400,147 △225,704

預り敷金及び保証金の返還による支出 △278,959 △263,076

預り敷金及び保証金の受入による収入 109,288 －

信託預り敷金及び保証金の返還による支出 △548,773 △883,799

信託預り敷金及び保証金の受入による収入 506,828 32,705

信託預り敷金及び保証金対応信託預金の払戻による収入 181,973 1,582,900

投資有価証券の償還による収入 10,000 －

供託金の預入による支出 △10,000 －

投資活動によるキャッシュ・フロー △11,416,721 225,114

財務活動によるキャッシュ・フロー

短期借入れによる収入 13,500,000 6,500,000

短期借入金の返済による支出 △15,000,000 △6,000,000

長期借入れによる収入 4,000,000 5,300,000

長期借入金の返済による支出 △1,760,000 △6,420,000

分配金の支払額 △4,664,052 △5,063,849

財務活動によるキャッシュ・フロー △3,924,052 △5,683,849

現金及び現金同等物の増減額（△は減少） △6,147,965 3,202,201

現金及び現金同等物の期首残高 22,002,198 15,854,233

現金及び現金同等物の期末残高� ※1 15,854,233 19,056,434

キャッシュ・フロー計算書

Ⅷ. 参考情報
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〔重要な会計方針に係る事項に関する注記〕

区分
前期（ご参考）

（自 平成26年 1 月 1 日
至 平成26年 6 月30日）

当期

（自 平成26年 7 月 1 日
至 平成26年12月31日）

キャッシュ・フロー計算書に
おける資金（現金及び現金同
等物）の範囲

キャッシュ・フロー計算書における資金（現金及び現金同等物）
は、手許現金及び信託現金、随時引き出し可能な預金及び信託
預金並びに容易に換金可能であり、かつ、価値の変動について
僅少なリスクしか負わない取得日から3ヵ月以内に償還期限の
到来する短期投資からなっています。

キャッシュ・フロー計算書における資金（現金及び現金同等物）
は、手許現金及び信託現金、随時引き出し可能な預金及び信託
預金並びに容易に換金可能であり、かつ、価値の変動について
僅少なリスクしか負わない取得日から3ヵ月以内に償還期限の
到来する短期投資からなっています。

〔キャッシュ・フロー計算書に関する注記〕
前期（ご参考）

（自 平成26年 1 月 1 日
至 平成26年 6 月30日）

当期

（自 平成26年 7 月 1 日
至 平成26年12月31日）

※1.	�現金及び現金同等物の期末残高と貸借対照表に掲記されている科目の金
額との関係

� （平成26年6月30日現在）
現金及び預金 12,896,501千円
信託現金及び信託預金 5,008,171千円
使途制限付信託預金（注） △2,050,440千円
現金及び現金同等物 15,854,233千円

※1.	�現金及び現金同等物の期末残高と貸借対照表に掲記されている科目の金
額との関係

� （平成26年12月31日現在）
現金及び預金 16,432,256千円
信託現金及び信託預金 3,091,718千円
使途制限付信託預金（注） △467,540千円
現金及び現金同等物 19,056,434千円

（注）テナントから預かっている敷金であり、テナント退去時にテナントに返還するため信託口座内に留保している預金。
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This is an English translation of the above copy of the independent auditor’s report issued originally for the Japanese 

statutory report.  

Ⅶ. Accounting Auditor’s Audit Report

Independent Auditor’s Report 

February 13, 2015 

The Board of Directors 

Frontier Real Estate Investment Corporation 

Ernst & Young ShinNihon LLC 

Designated Limited Liability Partner 

Engagement Partner 

Certified Public Accountant 

Shohei Harada 

Designated Limited Liability Partner 

Engagement Partner 

Certified Public Accountant 

Shiho Ito 

Pursuant to the provisions of Article 130 of the Act on Investment Trusts and Investment Corporations, we have audited 

the accompanying financial statements of Frontier Real Estate Investment Corporation, which comprise the balance sheet, 

the statement of income and retained earnings, the statement of unitholders’ equity and the notes to financial statements, 

the asset management report and the statement of cash distribution, as well as the supplementary schedules thereof, 

(with regard to the asset management report and the supplementary schedules thereof, limited to the part relevant to 

accounting; the same hereinafter) during its 21th fiscal period from July 1, 2014 to December  31, 2014. With regard to the 

asset management report and the supplementary schedules thereof, the part relevant to accounting that were audited are 

the parts of the matters stated on the asset management report and the supplementary schedules thereof that are based 

on accounting book records. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements, etc. 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, the asset management 

report and the statement of cash distribution, as well as the supplementary schedules thereof, in accordance with laws 

and regulations, the Articles of Incorporation and the accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, and for designing 

and operating such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statements, the asset management report and the statement of cash distribution, as well as 

the supplementary schedules thereof, that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to independently express an opinion on the financial statements, the asset management report and 

the statement of cash distribution, as well as the supplementary schedules thereof, based on our audit. We conducted our 

audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Those standards require that we plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements, the asset management report 

and the statement of cash distribution, as well as the supplementary schedules thereof, are free from material 

misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements, the asset management report and the statement of cash distribution, as well as the supplementary schedules 

thereof. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements, the asset management report and the statement of cash distribution, as well as 

the supplementary schedules thereof, whether due to fraud or error. In making these risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, the asset 

management report and the statement of cash distribution, as well as the supplementary schedules thereof, in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

presentation of the financial statements, the asset management report and the statement of cash distribution, as well as 

the supplementary schedules thereof. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion. 

 

Audit Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements, the asset management report and the statement of cash distribution, as well as 

the supplementary schedules thereof, referred to the above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 

and the results of operations for the period of the financial statements, the asset management report and the statement of 

cash distribution, as well as the supplementary schedules thereof, in accordance with laws and regulations, the Articles of 

Incorporation and the accounting principles generally accepted in Japan. 

 

Interest 

Our firm and the engagement partners have no interest in the Investment Corporation which should be disclosed 

pursuant to the provisions of the Certified Public Accountants Act. 
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Reference Information 
 

Statements of Cash Flows 

 
 

 

[Unit: thousands of yen]

20th Fiscal Period [Reference] 21st Fiscal Period

From: Jan. 1, 2014 From: July 1, 2014

To:  June 30, 2014 To:  Dec. 31, 2014

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Income before income taxes 5,308,377 5,008,534
Depreciation and amortization 2,208,847 2,159,839
Amortization of investment corporation bond issuance costs 3,074 3,074
Interest income (3,888) (3,727)
Interest expenses 421,964 423,752
Decrease (increase) in operating accounts receivable 7,211 (3,647)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses 11,287 18,288
Increase (decrease) in operating accounts payable 170,559 (212,792)
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses 19,246 (11,733)
Increase (decrease) in accrued consumption taxes (529,727) 163,393
Increase (decrease) in advances received 60,345 (32,659)
Decrease in disposal of property and equipment in trust 1,969,984 1,556,398
Other, net (49,655) 32,995
Subtotal 9,597,627 9,101,716
Interest income received 4,418 3,486
Interest expenses paid (407,827) (443,547)
Income taxes (paid) refund (1,409) (719)

　Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 9,192,808 8,660,936

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Purchase of short-term investment securities (400,000) (400,000)
Proceeds from redemption of securities 400,000 400,000
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,986,932) (17,909)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment in trust (7,400,147) (225,704)
Repayments of tenant leasehold and security deposits (278,959) (263,076)
Proceeds from tenant leasehold and security deposits 109,288 －

Repayments of tenant leasehold and security deposits in trust (548,773) (883,799)
Proceeds from tenant leasehold and security deposits in trust 506,828 32,705

Proceeds from bank deposits in trust accounts corresponding
to tenant leasehold and security deposits in trust

181,973 1,582,900

Proceeds from redemption of investment scurities 10,000 －

Payment into deposits in deposit money (10,000) －

　Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (11,416,721) 225,114

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Increase in short-term loans payable 13,500,000 6,500,000
Decrease in short-term loans payable (15,000,000) (6,000,000)
Proceeds from long-term loans payable 4,000,000 5,300,000
Repayment of long-term loans payable (1,760,000) (6,420,000)
Dividends paid (4,664,052) (5,063,849)

　Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (3,924,052) (5,683,849)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (6,147,965) 3,202,201
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 22,002,198 15,854,233
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 〔Note *1〕 15,854,233 19,056,434
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[Notes on Matters Concerning Significant Accounting Policies] 

Account 
20th Fiscal Period [Reference] 

From: Jan. 1, 2014 
To: June 30, 2014 

21st Fiscal Period 
From: July 1, 2014 
To:  Dec. 31, 2014 

Scope of funds 
(cash and cash 
equivalents) in 
statements of cash 
flows 

The funds (cash and cash equivalents) in 
statements of cash flows consist of cash on 
hand and cash in trust; deposits and deposits in 
trust that can be withdrawn at any time; and 
short-term investments with a maturity of 3 
months or less from the date of acquisition, 
which are readily convertible to cash and bear 
only an insignificant risk of price fluctuation. 

The funds (cash and cash equivalents) in 
statements of cash flows consist of cash on 
hand and cash in trust; deposits and deposits in 
trust that can be withdrawn at any time; and 
short-term investments with a maturity of 3 
months or less from the date of acquisition, 
which are readily convertible to cash and bear 
only an insignificant risk of price fluctuation. 

 

 

[Notes to Statements of Cash Flows] 
20th Fiscal Period [Reference] 

From: Jan. 1, 2014 
To: June 30, 2014 

21st Fiscal Period 
From: July 1, 2014 
To:  Dec. 31, 2014 

*1. Relationship between cash and cash equivalents at end 
of period in statements of cash flows and the amount 
stated in balance sheets 

[As of June 30, 2014]
[Unit: thousands of yen]

Cash and deposits 12,896,501
Cash and deposits in trust 5,008,171
Restricted deposits in trust 
[Note] 

(2,050,440)

Cash and cash equivalents 15,854,233
 

*1. Relationship between cash and cash equivalents at 
end of period in statements of cash flows and the 
amount stated in balance sheets 

[As of Dec. 31, 2014]
[Unit: thousands of yen]

Cash and deposits 16,432,256
Cash and deposits in trust 3,091,718
Restricted deposits in trust 
[Note] 

(467,540)

Cash and cash equivalents 19,056,434

Note: These are tenant leasehold deposits and are deposits that are retained in trust accounts for repayment when tenants vacate  
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Disclaimer 

This financial report is an English translation of a Japanese financial report originally made available in Japan in accordance with the 

Investment Trusts and Investment Corporations Law of Japan. This English-language financial report has been prepared solely for the 

convenience of readers outside Japan and is not intended to constitute a document for an offer to sell, or seeking an offer to buy, any 

securities of Frontier Real Estate Investment Corporation. 

English terms for Japanese legal, accounting, tax and business concepts used herein may not be precisely identical to the concept of 

the equivalent Japanese terms. With respect to any and all terms herein, including without limitation, financial statements, if there exist 

any discrepancies in the meaning or interpretation thereof between the original Japanese documents and English translation contained 

herein, the original Japanese documents will always govern the meaning and interpretation. 

Although every effort is made to provide accurate translation, neither Frontier Real Estate Investment Corporation, Mitsui Fudosan 

Frontier REIT Management Inc. nor any of their respective directors, officers, employees, partners, unitholders, agents, affiliates nor 

their advisors shall be responsible or liable for the completeness, appropriateness, or accuracy of the English translations or the 

selection of the portion(s) of any document(s) translated into English. 

The financial statements of Frontier Real Estate Investment Corporation have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles in Japan (Japanese GAAP), which may materially differ in certain respects from the generally accepted 

accounting principles of other jurisdictions. 

This semiannual report contains forward-looking statements. These statements appear in a number of places in this semiannual report 

and include statements regarding the intent, belief, or current and future expectations of Frontier Real Estate Investment Corporation or 

Mitsui Fudosan Frontier REIT Management Inc. with respect to its business, financial conditions and results of operations. In some 

cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “may”, ”will”, “should”, “would”, “expect”, “plan”, “anticipate”, 

“believe”, “estimate”, “predict”, “potential”, or the negative of these terms or other similar terminology. These statements are not 

guarantees of future performance and are subject to various risks and uncertainties. Actual results, performance or achievements, or 

those of the industries in which we operate, may differ materially from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or 

implied by these forward-looking statements. In addition, these forward-looking statements are necessarily dependent upon 

assumptions, estimates and data that may be incorrect or imprecise and involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties. 

Accordingly, readers of this document should not interpret the forward-looking statements included herein as predictions or 

representations of future events or circumstances. 

Potential risks and uncertainties also include those identified and discussed in this document. Given these risks and uncertainties, 

readers of this document are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which are only valid as of the date of 

the information published herein. We disclaim any obligation to update or, except in the limited circumstances required by the Tokyo 

Stock Exchange, announce publicly any revisions to any of the forward-looking statements contained in these documents.




